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Wednesday, April 14, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MR. MIKHAIL:  Good morning.  Ljuba Djurdjevic, the Board counsel, the Staff and myself welcome you to the technical conference for proceeding EB-2009-0408 regarding an application by Great Lakes Power Transmission LP on November 30th under section 78 of the OEB Act.

The applicant requested approval of its revenue requirement and adjustment to the provincial uniform transmission rate, and this is for test year 2010.  GLPT has been organized as a limited partnership in 2008 to own and operate the transmission system previously owned by Great Lakes Power Limited.

My name is Nabih Mikhail.  I am a project advisor in the case management of this proceeding.  The other Staff members attending this technical conference are Duncan Skinner, Vince Cooney and Keith Ritchie.

The applicant is forecasting the 2010 revenue requirement in excess of 39 million.  The revenue deficiency will be around 4.6 million in 2010.  A notice of combining this rate application with a deferral account application was issued on December the 30th, and publication and service started on January the 4th.

Intervenors in this proceeding are the IESO, Energy Probe, VECC, CNPI, SEC and Hydro One.  The first round of interrogatories were responded to by the applicant on March 3rd with a request for treating certain information as confidential. Per P.O. 1, no party submitted any evidence, and the deadline was March the 10th.

To deal with the confidential -- request to treat certain information as confidential, P.O. 2 was issued on March the 10th allowing for submissions, and on March the 31st the Board issued its decision to treat the requested information as confidential.

On March 18th, the Board issued P.O. No. 3, allowing for supplementary interrogatories, which were filed and responded to by April the 9th, and, again, GLPT requested certain information to be confidential.

P.O. 4 is expected to be issued very soon to deal with that, with the treatment of the confidential information.  It has not been issued yet.

The purpose of this technical conference is for intervenors and Board Staff to obtain clarification on interrogatory responses for the two rounds, the -- sorry, for March the 3rd and April the 9th, as well as any relevant facts related to the application.

At this point, I will be passing the conference to Ljuba to manage the rest of the day.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  I shall do my best.  Can we start with appearances?
Appearances:

MR. LANNI:  Richard Lanni, counsel with the Independent Electricity System Operator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer, counsel for the applicant, and with me is my colleague Jonathan Myers and Marcie Zajdeman, vice president regulatory affairs.

MR. KING:  Glen King, Scott Hawkes, Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, counsel to Energy Probe.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh, Energy Probe.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  And we have all -- Mr. Keizer, I see you have some representatives of GLP.  Would you care to introduce them or have them introduce themselves?

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe what I could do is I'll introduce them.  Starting on the left is an Annie McPhee, vice president and general manager.  Next to Mr. McPhee is Gary Gazankas, manager system planning and engineering.  Next to Mr. Gazankas is Mr. Scott Seabrook, controller.

Next to Mr. Seabrook is Mr. Dwayne Fecteau, director of administration, and next to Mr. Fecteau is Jeff Rosenthal, chief operating officer Canadian transmission.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Did you want to start with any opening statement, Ms. Keizer, or give any kind of a presentation, or should we just launch into the questions?

MR. KEIZER:  We hadn't intended to do any presentation, given we are not really following what we would typically see in a technical conference with written questions in advance and responding to specific questions, since we are actually dealing with questions arising from the IRs.

So we have no specific presentation to do, and we are available for questions.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  All right.  I think Board Staff was willing to go first, unless anybody wants to -- no, we have some people who want to speak about this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It is not about the order, just a preliminary matter.  I personally haven't signed the confidentiality undertaking, and I think that there may be references to confidential material during the tech conference.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Are we able to have you sign that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am happy to sign it.  I don't think there is one handy.  I talked to Mr. Keizer about possibly giving my undertaking on the record to abide by the Board's confidentiality policy with respect to this proceeding, and then to sign one as soon as I can.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Mr. Keizer, do you have any objection or is that acceptable to you?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess two things.  One, I am wondering whether it's possible at some point - I'm not sure if Board Staff is going first - if they have questions that are going to extend into the confidential matters, or not, but if it's possible for someone to print an undertaking off during that period of time so that Mr. Buonaguro could sign it so we just have that completed, or any other intervenor, I guess, to the extent they want to be bound by that undertaking and within the room at the time the questioning would occur.

In the alternative, I have spoken to Mr. Buonaguro.  Obviously the former is my preference, and I am sure Mr. Buonaguro would prefer it, as well, but, if not, Mr. Buonaguro, I think, is giving me an undertaking as a solicitor that he will sign that undertaking on the first available opportunity.

So if it is possible, I believe the document is a Board document that we would typically sign anyway.  So if we could have that available at some point this morning, that would make it probably much more official and much more convenient.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Certainly we can get a copy of the form for Mr. Buonaguro executed at the first break, if everybody is satisfied at this point with his verbal undertaking.

And counsel for the IESO needs to sign the undertaking, as well, and I assume we can have your verbal undertaking as a barrister and solicitor to abide.

MR. LANNI:  I give the same undertaking to sign the document when you present it.

MR. HAWKES:  Canadian Niagara Power would give a similar undertaking.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Okay.  Anybody else?

MR. MACINTOSH:  Energy Probe would give the undertaking, as well.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think, though, let's be careful.  The undertaking is not an organizational undertaking, it's a personal undertaking.

MR. MACINTOSH:  Energy Probe persons will undertake.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  I believe it would have to be Mr. Faye that gives the undertaking.

MR. FAYE:  And I would give it Mr. Faye as general counsel.

MS. LOSKUTOVA:  Mr. Faye, as counsel for Energy Probe, will give the undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you very much.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Are there any other preliminary matters?  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I understand that the second round of confidential material has not been provided to the parties.  I certainly haven't seen it.  And, as a result, there may be some areas of my questions today that I am not able to fully pursue, because I haven't seen material that's relevant and material to those areas.

So I am just putting that on the record, that I believe this should have been delivered to us last Friday and it was not, and as soon as it's delivered, I can then advise the Board whether it raises any additional questions that I wasn't able to ask today.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  That's absolutely correct.  There was additional information filed under cover of letter of April 9th, 2010 in which GLP also requests confidential treatment for certain portions of the interrogatory response.

Now, there has not yet been a Board finding that part or all of the information should be treated confidentially.  A P.O. is imminent, will be issued probably today or tomorrow, indicating that the information will be treated as confidential in the interim, and just as with the last P.O. with the earlier confidential request, there will an invitation for parties to make submissions as to whether the information should be treated confidentially or not, followed by a Board decision and order on the confidentiality request.

Accordingly, that material will not be the subject of any questions at today's conference and we will likely either have to adjourn and resume at some point when the Board has dealt with the confidentiality request fully.

Okay.  Does anybody have any comments or issues with that?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't want to sound -- I just think that the only thing I wanted to comment on was that, Mr. Shepherd, I think it's a difference of opinion between the two of us whether we should have filed that on Friday and provided it to the intervenors.  Just so it's on the record, we don't believe that that's what the guidelines will require.  But I don't think it's a need for debate. I think we can be satisfied with what you have indicated today.  Thanks very much.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  With respect to any questions arising out of the –- well, I’ll call it the first batch of confidential information, as opposed to material files on April 9, which I may refer to as the second batch.  Any questions that arise out of the first batch, should we suggest to the parties that we just continue with the transcription and then we can produce a redacted transcript afterwards so that there is an unredacted and a redacted transcript.  Is that satisfactory to everyone?  Okay?  No objections?  Going once, going twice.  Okay.  I just think it makes it easier for the court reporter and for us to not have to stop and go.

All right.  So if there is no other preliminary matters, the Board Staff have some questions that they would like to put to the representatives.  Nabih is going to go first.

MR. MIKHAIL:  I guess I am going to invite Keith to go first because he has other commitments, so Keith, you can start.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Mr. Ritchie has a document that he will refer to in his questions, which is an excerpt from – okay.  Why don’t you --

MR. RITCHIE:  Actually a document that's just being passed around is actually Exhibit 5, tab 1, well, Exhibit 5, Tab 1, sched 1 from Five Nations Energy Inc.’s transmission rate application, which has been filed with the Board and is being dealt with under Board file number EB-2009-0387.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  We will make that Exhibit K 1.1.

MR. RITCHIE:  Wouldn't it be KT, because it's technical?

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Technical, correct.  KT1.1.
EXHIBIT KT1.1:  Exhibit 5, tab 1, schedule 1 from Five Nations Energy Inc. transmission rate application.

MR. KEIZER:  Just so I was clear, is there -- we didn't get to see this in advance of today's meeting, so I guess my question is:  Is it going to be your questions extending to the full aspects of the document or are there just particular areas that -- because I am concerned about them having an opportunity to have read it, digest it and understand it, and which, you know, typically would have seen it in advance of presenting it to them today.

MR. RITCHIE:  Yeah.  I apologize, again.  Like just in terms of even seeing some of the supplemental interrogatory responses, and I didn't know whether this technical conference was proceeding.

I just wasn't able to get to this until late yesterday.  I am only going to be referring to actually section 2.0 on capital structure, which is on what's called page 1 of 3; it would be the second page of the exhibit.
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MR. KEIZER:  I guess before you ask the question, I assume it would probably be Mr. Fecteau or Mr. Seabrook answering the question relating to it.  Have you read the excerpt that's been put in front of you?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes, we have.
Questions by Mr. Ritchie:


MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Thank you.

I guess where I'd -- my area of questioning is with respect to cost of capital, and specifically with respect to the deemed capital structure that GLPL has proposed in this application.  And in their original application they had proposed to go to transition to a 57.5 percent debt and 42.5 percent equity, but in response to the first round of interrogatories, GLPL revised its application and suggested that it would -- it's proposing to retain the existing 55 percent debt and 45 percent equity, as was approved by the Board in its previous 2005 rate application.  Is that -- that's my understanding at this point.

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  And in a Board Staff Supplemental IR, 23, basically you have explained your reasons for the revision, basically saying that your sort -– your understanding of the Board report that was issued on December the 11th, 2009 is that there is no -- you're proposing just to retain it; there's no change in your financial risk and you're not looking at changing that at this time?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  I guess where I was looking at this in terms of Hydro One Networks’ transmission has sort of a 60/40 deemed capital structure for ratemaking purposes, and in the application that Five Nations Energy Inc. has applied for -- and again, this is before the Board.  There has been no Board determination.  They have also proposed to go to a 60/40 deemed capital structure in accordance with their understanding of the 2006 and the 2009 cost-of-capital reports.

And I guess all else being equal, a 55/45 per cent capital structure for GLPL would sort of assume that there is a higher business risk for GLPLTX than for – than with, say, the 60/40 capital structure.  Would you agree with that?

MR. FECTEAU:  We believe, as laid out on page 50 of the latest report, of the latest capital report, that there hasn't been any material change in our financial structure, so we don't see a need to readjust.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  I guess that didn't quite answer the question that I was asking, which is, you know: Wouldn't a 55/45 deemed capital structure be premised on a higher business risk than a 60/40 deemed capital structure?

MR. FECTEAU:  In my opinion, no.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.
Questions by Board Staff:


MR. COONEY:  Hi.  I'm Vince Cooney with Board Staff.  I will be asking questions that generally relate to OM&A, shared services, CCA and compensation, and they will be limited to -- they are generally all referenced through to the supplemental IRs, so I will bring those up as I go along.

The first is with respect to supplemental 4, which is attached to the original Board IR 21, and you can find that at Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 7 and 8.  I will just turn that up.

So at this reference GLPT has provided a summary table which indicates the increases in benefits per FTE for 2010 -- sorry, do you have it in front of you or do you need a moment?

It's increases for 2010 forecast over 2006 actual.  Now, if I just might draw your attention down the table to the -- it's the third line from the bottom.  It states, "Estimated Variance Resulting From Staff Mix", and it's reported as 21.1 per cent contribution for non-union and to this net variance figure at the bottom.

Now, I understand from the calculation that's provided below at paragraph 3 the 23,300 figure, but I don't quite understand where the 19,200 figure is coming from for presumably 2006 in the calculation on page 8.

MR. SEABROOK:  The $19,200 figure comes from Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 3 of the prefiled evidence, and the Table 4-2-3 A on employee compensation.  I will give you a moment to flip there if you don't have it in front of you.

MR. COONEY:  I might not have it right in front of me, but if the figure is --

MR. SEABROOK:  Near to the bottom of the table there is a section called "Compensation - Average Yearly Benefits", and under the 2006 actual column for non-union there is the $19,200 figure there.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, thanks.  I see that now.  Okay, that's fine.

So my next question would refer to supplemental 5, and that's tied to Board Staff's original IR 23.  I just need some confirmations here with respect to the evidence provided by GLPT.  So could you confirm from Exhibit 11, tab 1 schedule 1, page 10, that for the five years shown in the table at Interrogatory Response No. 23, the average incentive payouts for the -- in the table, the row is called "group objectives", it is approximately 127 per cent for the five years shown?

I have just taken the weights and summed them across, and, if you do that, you get 127 per cent.

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, thanks.  And from the same table, if you were to do the same process for the three rows there, you would get 115 percent achievement of objectives, I guess subject to check?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.  We can earn between zero and two times 100 percent, and we have earned 115 out of a possible 200.

MR. COONEY:  Right.  I suppose in the evidence, GLPT refers to that essentially an employee's incentive would be 100 percent, or they aim to have it 100 percent for an employee over their lifetime.  So would that indicate that in future years it would be some measure below 100 percent achievement to get to that 100 percent average?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, all right.  My next question refers to supplemental 6(I), and this -- there is a second reference you will need as well, which is Exhibit 10, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix 6(I).

And this refers to essentially utility identifiers for the first quartile report that was provided.  So at the first reference there that's provided with the supplemental -- or, sorry, the original IR, there are utility identifier is provided.  They are numbered 1 through 14, including line type, vegetation, geographic locations and customer profile information.

And in the supplemental, we asked for similar plot of the graphs with, again, the alphanumeric identifiers to preserve -- to not mention companies, but these graphs are numbered 30 -- with sort of numbers starting at 30 and ending at 101.

And it's identifying the same -- it is the same utilities, but a different set of numbers.  At least that's my presumption.  So Staff can't really make any determination, based on the original IR and the supplemental, of which company type is which.  Could you comment on that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.  I agree with your commentary.  We will take an undertaking to provide the updated information.

MR. COONEY:  I can just describe that.  I will just describe what I would ask for.  If you could just remap those graphs provided at the supplemental with numbers 1 through 14 to match up with the table, and if you could also provide an Excel table of values for the numbers for the percentages that are involved there, and if you could put each graph on a separate page so it's actually in kind of readable -- I guess readable legend or font on the graph.  Is that okay?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. MIKHAIL:  I guess we will --

MR. MIKHAIL:   Can I just add to comment that for us to make sense of the data, and so on, we need to sort of look at the various utilities and compare.  So we need to have a bigger graph so it's more legible, so we can follow up and see which utilities are matching against GLPT's.

MR. FECTEAU:  Understood.

MR. MIKHAIL:  Thank you.

MR. COONEY:  Thanks.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking KJ1.1.

MR. COONEY:  I think we usually call it JT.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  I forget the nomenclature.  That will be undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO Remap graphs provided at Supplemental IR 6(I) with numbers 1 through 14 to match up table in Excel spreadsheet.


MR. COONEY:  And if you could also provide, similar to last undertaking, a separate set of graphs and tables as above with only utilities from that first reference in IR -- sorry, let me just check back here.  It's the original table with the 1 through 14 identifiers.  If you could produce the graphs just with identifiers 2, 3, 5, 6, 10, 13 and 14 graph, could you do that, as well?  Is that -- it's just sort of a subset of graphs with just those utility identifiers.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just on a selected group of the identifiers, the ones you listed?

MR. COONEY:  Yes.  I guess we can attach it to that first undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  Why don't we just make it part of the first undertaking?

MR. COONEY:  Sure, thanks.  My next question refers to supplemental 6(ii).  That's at Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 11.  I am just going to quote directly from that reference.  Just give me a moment.  So there it states:
"The impacts on total compensation and staffing levels occurred after the sale of GLPDI’s shares, which is not the same as the asset sale to GLPDI."

So I just don't quite follow.  I guess just to clarify, is it that the increase to OM&A of 409,990 follows as a consequence of the sale of GLPDI because the sale ultimately –- sorry, the split of the companies ultimately triggered the sale of those shares?

MR. FECTEAU:  The incremental costs referred to here, the transaction was done in two steps; the shares were –- sorry, the assets were rolled into GLPDI, and then they were sold.  The increase in costs was related when the sale of the shares occurred, not when the assets were transferred or sold.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  All right.  Thanks.

My next question is with respect to Supplemental 7, and that's tied back to Board Staff IR 39.  So this question concerns productivity improvements at GLPT, and Board Staff is just trying to get a complete picture of the savings due to claimed productivity improvements from a standalone executive team.  I will just read an extract from that response at Supplemental 7.  It states at part I, paragraph 1:

“At that time, to complete work tasks in support of that wider scope of responsibility, the business formerly retained outside service providers to a greater extent than at present."

Now, the response goes on and points back to IRR 39, which refers to a savings of approximately $30,000 for a consultation with First Nations and Métis people.

And GLPT also noted there were costs associated with hiring for the director of legal and regulatory position, which would accompany the savings.

So I guess what I am trying to get to and I guess the question is:  Do you have some sense of what the costs were associated with that hiring process?  And I guess the second part would be:  What are the approximate total cost savings of not having to hire outside contractors, or at least to the extent how these costs were reduced -- or are reduced in future years?

MR. FECTEAU:  As it relates to increase in costs directly related to the shared management team and the 50 percent split, that was approximately a $366,000 incremental increase.

In regards to savings that we have incurred, the numbers that we have, there has been a number of savings.  One was the $30,000 you referred to.  I believe in our evidence, we’ve -– sorry, in our prefiled evidence, we also referred to a 70 -- I also believe there was approximately a $70,000 savings as it related to legal costs.  In addition, there are other cost savings that we cannot quantify; as an example in our evidence, we have talked about we used to have a larger reliance on our parent company for specific services such as tax, financing and accounting.  In prior years, those costs weren't passed on to the ratepayer, so to be able to quantify them at this time is not possible.

In addition to that, the shared management group has been able to take on a number of activities that have been quite large in nature, including the rate application, as well as financing activities where we have been able to do a majority of it in-house and not seek additional consulting services for that.  To determine what the cost savings on that at this time, I am not able to do.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  So I guess I was probably going to touch on that, but you have cut it off for me, but...

So the standalone executive team, these tasks for financial statement preparation, finance, taxation, those sorts of areas, I suppose they are able to do that.  How would the cost of them doing it, like their labour rate compared to, say, staff that were –- staff, either in-house or contracted staff that would undertake that work, how would that compare?  Would you be able to compare that at a high level for me?

MR. FECTEAU:  As shown in our cost of service, we pay approximately about $170 an hour for financing costs.  If we were to do that within a parent company, in addition if we were to go do that service externally, we know that we would pay anywhere, say, for accounting to taxation services between 200 to $500 an hour for those services.  The average cost of the employees that make up the shared management team are less than the amount that we would incur by using either consultants or using the parent company.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  I suppose at S1 there is a figure of 1,000 -– sorry, the Supplemental IR -- I will just -- just turning back to Supplemental 1, there is a figure of $1,034 dollars per hour for executive costs.  I suppose the figure you are quoting, the 200 to 500, that wouldn't include any other, if you were to compare the two -- am I missing something, like that the $1,034 would include that the –- sorry, the other costs wouldn’t include for outside services?

MR. FECTEAU:  You know, the answer that I gave was directly in relation to the financing and taxation services, and those numbers for internal services run between 170 and 200.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.  That makes sense.  Thank you.

Just one moment here.

So my next question refers to part two of Supplemental 7, and this question is with respect to savings on accounting staff.  I am just trying to get a sense of what stated here in the evidence.  GLP states that it retained three of seven staff, in the split of the transmission and distribution companies, that performed accounting functions, but they now perform more than three-sevenths of the previous workload.  I suppose my question is:  If these tasks were assigned weights in terms of effort, how could the staff be assigned now more than three-sevenths of the workload?  Do they not have to work more hours, or something else?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  So would that sort of indicate that prior, when there were seven staff doing that, that they were underutilized?

MR. FECTEAU:  No, I wouldn't -- I wouldn’t say that.

MR. COONEY:  Okay.  All right.

Okay.  My next question is with respect to Supplemental 8, and that ties back to Board Staff IR No. 41.  So let me just take a moment to turn that up.
"Could you please confirm that GLPT has offered the provision of contact service to Algoma Power at a cost of $68,787 and it has included this in its 2010 budget, as indicated at the table provided at IRR No. 41, and that this amount only covers OM&A costs of the OSAC."


MR. SEABROOK:  Yes, the table at Board Staff No. 41 from the first round, part 1, includes the OM&A costs, but it was actually an oversight on our part.  In response to No. 8 in the supplementals, we said that the allocation includes OM&A costs only, which includes the appropriate 5 percent portion of the operating lease.  The operating lease isn't actually included in the table in 41, 41(I), so the operating lease is incremental to the dollars that are shown in the 2010 column there.

However, this is OM&A costs and these are built into the budget to be billed to Algoma Power, yes.


MR. COONEY:  Thank you.  I suppose what you are saying is that the provision of those services to Algoma Power would contribute nothing to the capital costs of the facilities?

MR. SEABROOK:  At this point in time, we have no plans to make capital upgrades or capital additions to the existing SCADA equipment we are sharing with Algoma Power.

MR. COONEY:  So it would just be OM&A?  It wouldn't include overheads?  It's not like a fully-loaded type cost.

MR. SEABROOK:  It would be a fully-loaded OM&A cost, yes.

MR. COONEY:  Sorry, just a second.  So in part (ii) there is a reference to -- for the OSCC, the 5 percent estimate was to be a reasonable approximation of the time and resources dedicated to the distribution business.

So if it's simply the OM&A costs, it doesn't really -- would it not really take into account, like, the whole cost of operating the centre and the facilities on the capital side?

MR. SEABROOK:  I guess to give it some more background, we don't really have capital costs related to the SCADA equipment in place there, so we don't have capital costs to share.  All the costs that Great Lakes Power Transmission incurs there are OM&A-related costs, and therefore that's all we can share with Algoma Power.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, thank you.  I just have one last question here, just a small question.  It's with reference to Board Staff IR No. 31, and you probably won't need to turn it up.  It's with respect to the MEARIE survey.  Are you familiar with that survey?

MR. FECTEAU:  No, we are not.

MR. COONEY:  Well, the MEARIE Group performs a management compensation survey each year, and I suppose GLPT indicated that it did not participate in that survey.  Does GLPT intend to participate in the MEARIE survey in future years?

MR. FECTEAU:  We haven't contemplated that at this time.

MR. COONEY:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MIKHAIL:  I think Keith would like to clarify a couple of items that he covered earlier this morning.  So, Keith.
Questions by Mr. Ritchie:


MR. RITCHIE:  Thank you.  I am just going back.  Earlier, your response was that there was no difference in business risks for sort of the 55/45 capital structure versus a 60/40 capital structure, and I just wanted to understand if you could elaborate on that, why you believe that there is no difference in the business risk for those two different capital structures.

MR. FECTEAU:  When I answered that question, I was referring to the fact that when we prepared our evidence that -- and our supplementary IRs and -- the IRs and the supplementary IRs, that we believe, according to the new cost of -- the cost of capital report that came out, that we haven't seen a change in our existing risk structure.

So we did not consider our risk structure compared to theirs.  We have considered it against our existing risk structure and see no need to change from what the Board has already approved.

MR. RITCHIE:  I guess my question is more on a conceptual basis, is that -- is there a difference in the business risk that would underlie a 55/45 capital structure versus a 60/40 capital structure?

MR. KEIZER:  I think the question is more what you would put to a cost to capital witness than you would to the director of administration or the members here with respect to their view.

I think they have answered why they took the position that they did.

MR. RITCHIE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MIKHAIL:  I have a couple of areas that I want to cover.  One of them is on capex.  The reference is in supplementary number 22, Interrogatory No. 22, Board Staff No. 22, and it's dealing with the redevelopment project.  Do you have that?  Okay.

(iii), we asked for cost estimates for two scenarios, and we got the status quo scenario covered for two options, 2 and 5, and we also asked for the scenario of expansion to get the costs of the two options, 2 and 5, for the redevelopment project.  And the response was no estimates have been developed.

Board Staff would like to get those estimates.  Could we take an undertaking for that?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the first question is are those -- is that possible to do or is it not?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I guess GLP did struggle with the table, in understanding the completion of that table.

MR. MIKHAIL:  Okay.

MR. GAZANKAS:  If I look at that, if I am referring to the same one you are, Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, we have in the columns option 2 and option 5, and then in the rows we have status quo.  I guess for filling out that row, I don't understand -- with those rows, what you mean there.

MR. MIKHAIL:  Okay, I guess I can explain that.  Basically it comes from the description in your evidence and also in the Wardrop report where it has the layout of the options, and there is indication that 15 breakers, 14 of them will be replaced.

I guess here we asked, for the 15, if they were brand new, and you mentioned what the costs would be or reported -- or responded with the cost estimates for the two options under that scenario.  That same report and evidence do refer to possible expansions of four new positions, and under one scenario you would have certain number of breakers, and we indicated that in the IR.  There is five new breakers, while the other option would have more breakers, nine.

So we would like to get an estimate of the two options.  If there is expansion, as indicated in the, you know, sort of evidence that there is expectation that it may be, when you cost a station and compare alternatives, I guess one looks at the useful life of that station.  And that's why we need that on the record.

MR. GAZANKAS:  At this point in time, GLP has not costed or estimated for the expansion portion.  We don't believe at this point in time we are expecting expansion.  As part of the Ontario resource and transmission assessment criteria put forward by the IESO a station has to -- in its design, you must consider its extendibility.

So we followed that and if you look at a breaker-and-a-third or breaker-and-a-half type station layout, both of those types of layouts can be expanded in the future.

At this point in time, again, I would like to state we aren't expecting any expansion, and, due to that fact, we didn't feel it necessary to cost that out.

MR. MIKHAIL:  No, I fully understand that.  I read your response, but I am still asking:  Would you be able to give us an estimate?  You have estimated the cost.  Would that be very difficult to give us an estimate?

MR. GAZANKAS:  At this point in time, it would be.  It would take some time for us to provide estimates on those additional works at the station.

MR. MIKHAIL:  How long would it take?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Depending on the consultant and contractor availability, we are probably looking at anywhere from, potentially, a month to two months to do an accurate representation of that.

MR. MIKHAIL:  And if we ask for less than very accurate cost estimates, how long would it take to do?  You know, like you have some estimates around a certain number of breakers; to expand it, would that be very hard to do on a -- not on a level 3 estimate, but, say, level 1 or 2, so we can get some sense of what the costs are.

MR. KEIZER:  Just so I can understand, Mr. Mikhail, are you asking, then -- you are trying to get a cost estimate just for the addition of four new breakers; is that what you are looking for?  I just want to kind of get precision about what you are, and then we would have a better opportunity to be able to explain whether we could do it, or whether the company could do it and in what time period the company could do it.

MR. MIKHAIL:  Yeah, well, it’s basically that, plus all the associated costs of the bus extensions and the protection and so on, you know.  It's not just the breakers but the – but the whole –-

MR. KEIZER:  So any ancillary work that would arise from implementing --

MR. MIKHAIL:  Yeah.

MR. KEIZER:  -- those breakers.

MR. MIKHAIL:  I think so.  And one can do first cut or a bit more accurate second estimate, but not very precise costs, if that is too onerous.

MR. GAZANKAS:  GLP will be able to perform, from a high-level perspective, less detailed, less accurate estimates on what you are seeking.

MR. MIKHAIL:  I appreciate that.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  We will give that an undertaking number.  It will be JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING No. JT1.2:  to Provide high-level estimates of incorporation of four new breakers and ancillary services that would arise from doing so within the redevelopment project.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  Can we just make sure that there’s -- I don't want any confusion after the fact, so if we can put some words around the undertaking that GLPT is undertaking to provide high-level -- as Mr. Gazankas has said -- less accurate estimates of the incorporation of four new breakers and ancillary services that would arise from doing so within the redevelopment project.  Is that accurate?

MR. MIKHAIL:  Yeah, that's --

MR. KEIZER:  Is that fair?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yes.

MR. MIKHAIL:  That's reasonable, yes.

The second area I would like to sort of touch, based on just clarification for us, educating us on the process, in responding to Supplementary Interrogatory No. 25 -- that's on load forecast -- on page 2 of 16, the first paragraph on that page, it talks about de-seasonalized following a standard procedure and it goes on to explain how that standard procedure would work.  And basically, it says for each month -- and the monthly demands was divided by its centred moving average -- it talks about a centred 13-month moving average was calculated for each month and the monthly demand was divided by its centred moving average.

Could someone explain to me just very quickly how that sort of smoothing took place, like what are the steps actually for taking the seasonal effect out of the data?

MR. FECTEAU:  We got a consultant to help us out with the answer to this question, and we would need to refer back to give you -- to get you an answer in that regard.

MR. MIKHAIL:  Can we have an undertaking on that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we can.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  To explain the seasonality effect used in the load forecast, and provide an example.

MR. MIKHAIL:  And just to sort of get the full value out of that, if they can go through an example of how this was done, because when we read it, I passed it by some of our experts in the office and they couldn't really sort of get a sense of exactly, you know, what was done.  So that would be helpful if there is some numerical illustration on that.

MR. SEABROOK:  So just to be clear, we need a description or a more detailed description of the seasonality method used and then a numerical description or example to illustrate that.

MR. MIKHAIL:  That would be very help, yes.

MR. SEABROOK:  Okay.

MR. MIKHAIL:  And that concludes our questions.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  So that's the end of Board Staff's questions for the panel.

And who would like to go next.  Mr. Shepherd?
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy to go next.  I will tell you this now:  I may have most of my questions now, and then after my colleagues have gone I may have a couple more.  But I will try to get most of them done now.

Let me start with some follow-up questions.  Witnesses, hi.  I am Jay Shepherd from the School Energy Coalition.  Some follow-up questions with respect to the Staff questions, I have five of them.

Mr. Ritchie asked you about business risk.  Let me ask you the other request which he didn't ask, which is:  Do you believe that your business risk in your transmission business is higher than Hydro One Transmission or First Nations Energy?

MR. FECTEAU:  We don't believe our risk is higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then next is when Mr. Cooney was asking you about Staff 6(2), you said -- and I wrote it down verbatim:

“The assets were rolled into GLPDI.”

Did you do a rollover?

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, that was mistaken.  They were sold into GLPDI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is not a section 85 rollover?  This is a --

MR. FECTEAU:  It is not a section 85 rollover.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why did you refer to a rollover?

MR. FECTEAU:  I just used the wrong terminology.  I apologize about that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.

And then the next is Staff was asking about Supplementary 7(2), in which you talked about retaining three of the seven accounting staff; do you recall that?

You still have those three; you don't have any more?

MR. FECTEAU:  At this time, we have –

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FECTEAU:  Currently we have three employees in the accounting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then how have you managed the increased workload for those three employees?

MR. FECTEAU:  The three individuals have put in some additional work in regards to getting the work done, to meeting the demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So just working longer hours?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's right.  We will be looking at trying to fill another position to meet the demand in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in the budget?

MR. FECTEAU:  It will be covered in the cost that we have, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for the test year, you have another position for this added?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.  Given the amount of workload that the accounting staff are incurring and the additional work due to the split, we will be trying to reallocate dollars from other positions.  At the time of doing the budget, we had only the three budgeted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to take a person from another area that's in the budget now, in the budget you are asking the ratepayers to pay.  You have a position that you are going to then move over to accounting?

MR. FECTEAU:  We will find the costs in the current budget to pay for the additional individual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That additional individual is, what, $100,000?

MR. FECTEAU:  Can I ask you to restate the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, sorry.  That additional individual is $100,000 fully loaded?  Something like that?

MR. FECTEAU:  I would expect the number to be anywhere between 65- to 85,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fully loaded?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do you know where you are going to get that from?

MR. FECTEAU:  We believe that we can have some of the cost savings for that position from reduction of consulting services that we already had booked in the accounting area to help with some of the offset, as well as savings that we used to use other accounting firms for in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could give me an undertaking, then, to tell us what figures in your OM&A budget will change -- you expect will change.  Just identify the lines that are going to change and how much you would expect they are going to change to make this adjustment.  Can you do that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO ADVISE EXPECTED CHANGES TO OM&A


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next question is in response to some questions with respect to Staff 8(I).  You were talking about the $68,000 in the contact service deal; do you recall that?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I thought you said - and maybe I just misheard it - that in Staff 41 the amount in there, the $68,000 that's in there, does not include the operating lease; is that right?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.  It's not included in either of the numbers in the table there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it should; right?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes, it would be -- potentially, yes, it should be included there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much would that be?

MR. SEABROOK:  The total lease cost is $294,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it would be 5 percent of that, so it would be another $15,000 or so?

MR. SEABROOK:  At a high level estimate, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But your deal with Algoma is not going to include that?

MR. SEABROOK:  Those costs will be charged to Algoma, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's $15,000, then, we will adjust that; right?  Is that fair that we should just make that adjustment?

MR. SEABROOK:  That is to say, then, the total costs charged to Algoma would be 68 plus the 15?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.  I think that's a fair estimate, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then in response to the same question, you were talking about -- your view when you spoke to Mr. Cooney was that there are no capital costs associated with the service.  Now, I guess I am having a hard time understanding that, and maybe I am missing how you doing it, but you have employees in a building.  They have furniture.  They have computers, all that stuff.  Where is that being recovered?

MR. SEABROOK:  It would all be through the operating lease, which we would call at that point an OM&A cost, because when transmission pays for it, we pay for it as an OM&A cost and pass the 5 percent on as an OM&A cost, not as a capital cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't own the furniture?  You don't own the computers?  You don't own anything?

MR. SEABROOK:  As part of the SCADA equipment lease from Great Lakes Power Limited.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but these employees don't just use the SCADA; right?  They use all, like, all sorts of stuff.

MR. SEABROOK:  Primarily the SCADA equipment is what they use, yes.  I mean, they do have chairs they sit in, I agree.  We don't pass any of the costs of the office furniture that they utilize.  No, we don't pass that on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And isn't -- aren't they situated in the building?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You own the building?

MR. SEABROOK:  Great Lakes Power Limited owns the building.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are leasing it?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's included in the lease you pass on -- the lease costs?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes, we share the building with them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are some assets that are used that are actually your assets, Transmission's assets, but they are small enough that they are not material; is that fair?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  I am going to sort of jump around a bit, because I am trying to do this on subjects rather than one by one, but eventually I will go through the questions. Let me just start with School Supplementary No. 10, which is page 10 of 43 of your supplementary responses.  Do you have that?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it will come as no surprise to you that our first question is 2010 and 2011 rate application.  And am I right in understanding this is $841,800 in legal costs for this application?  Is that right?

MR. SEABROOK:  This would be the two applications, the closure of this application here and the proceeding involved, and the filing -- preparation and filing of the 2011 application.  So this would be two separate applications built into the one line item here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So you are already working on one for next year?

MR. SEABROOK:  We have not yet started, but we plan to have one this year, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this seems to be a very big number.  Can you help us with what's included in this?  I have never seen a number this big for utility legal costs in a rate application, not even Hydro One.

MR. SEABROOK:  I think advice on regulatory matters.  As you can see, there are a number of new people on the panel here who haven't been in front of the regulator before, so there is some advice there, assistance in preparing evidence and how it should be prepared, assistance in preparing interrogatory responses, assistance in preparing for things such as a technical conference or an oral hearing, if we get to that stage, or a settlement conference.  Those are the main activities, I guess.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It assumes an oral hearing?

MR. SEABROOK:  I am sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It assumes you will have an oral hearing, yes?

MR. SEABROOK:  I don't know if it assumes that, but it allows for that.  We would hope it allows for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is enough in the budget to cover that, is my point?

MR. SEABROOK:  I don't know if there will be enough, but potentially, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does this include -- and I am not asking you to tell me what the advice is, because I understand that's privileged, but does this include advice on the tax issues associated with this application?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I know some of this was in 2008, which seems to be long before you would actually be contemplating this application.  Do I take it you are including some of the transaction costs associated with the reorganization and the other transactions in 2008?

MR. SEABROOK:  No.  Some of the leg work for this application was started in 2008 in terms of building a framework for the application and just from the bottom up.  That's when it started.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is what I am trying to understand, how you spent $100,000 in 2008 for a 2010 application.  Can you help me with that?

MR. SEABROOK:  There were some thoughts at the time that we would be filing a 2009 application, but given the activity underway at the time, we pushed it forward one year to a 2010 application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did your counsel advise you on the regulatory impacts of the transactions you carried out in 2008?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if you really want to ask what legal advice he received.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking what the advice is.  I am asking about the subject area.  It's legitimate to ask the subject area, because it's a question of whether it's recoverable from the ratepayers.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if 2008 is something we are seeking to recover, since it's not in the test year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My point is going to be what's included in the 345,000 this year, and so I am allowed to ask:  What did you include in this line for other years?  I am not asking what the advice was.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I may get to that, but I am not getting to it today.

MR. SEABROOK:  Sorry, could you restate the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did that $96,600 include advice on the regulatory implications of how the 2008 transactions were structured?

MR. SEABROOK:  No.  This was purely related to the rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The second area I want to ask you a question about is Staff No. 1.  And, by the way, Staff, I love how you worded the question, "Is the figure of $1,034/hr for executive costs a typo?"

That's wonderful.  So my question is this -- do you have the question in front of you?  This is not $1,034 per hour for two people; right?  It's each; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my simple mind says that means that their total cost is about $1.8 million a year, each.  Am in the right ballpark?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That seems pretty expensive for executive services for a company with $39 million of revenue.  Can you help me understand why such a big number is justified?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  So I think it's important to go back to an earlier -- I guess the introduction, when I talked about the transition of Great Lakes Power ownership.  And the ownership moved to Brookfield Infrastructure, which is a public company.  And the executives that are being referred to here are the CEO and CFO of the public company, and as such, they are responsible, with all the assets that are in that group, to report back to the shareholders.  So there are -- the activities that they are involved in would include the quarterly reporting to the shareholders, which would be based on quarterly meetings with the various operating groups, of which we are one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, are you finished?  I wasn't so much asking what they are doing.  I get that.  Is -- I am trying to understand what justifies $1,000 an hour.  I mean lawyers don't make -– well, most lawyers don't make $1,000 an hour.  And so as far as I am concerned, anybody who makes more than that is strange, right?  A thousand seems like a lot, doesn't it?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  I am not sure I could respond to the quantum.  I think that that is the hourly rate that we can break down there, the total compensation, that is the hourly rate.  And then we looked at the application of their time to our business unit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you don't really have a say in how much they get paid; you just have a say in how much you use them, right?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  We are not responsible for the executives.  However, we are -- there is a governance responsibility that exists between them and us, and it drives the requirement for their attention to this business unit and the amount of time that they spend looking at this business unit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

 I am going into an area that is going to take a while.  Is there a plan to have a break this morning?

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  I certainly hope so, and if this would be a good time, we may as well do it now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be convenient for me, yes.  15 minutes?

--- Recess taken at 10:49 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:16 a.m.
Procedural Matters:


MS. DJURDIEVIC:  All right, we will continue.  And during the break, Mr. Mikhail distributed copies of the Board's form declaration of undertaking respecting confidentiality, and I believe we are just collecting those signed documents now.

So just to clarify for the record, that upon executing the undertaking, those parties that have counsel and consultants that have signed them will have access to all material that's declared confidential in this proceeding, so the first batch, as well as the second batch that will be distributed later.

Do you want to continue, Mr. Shepherd?
Questions by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am ready, yes.  So let me turn, witnesses, to -- I am starting with Board Staff Supplementary No. 9, but there is a whole lot of questions on this area, which is your tax provision.

And my understanding is that you've included in your revenue requirement -- your initial revenue requirement, you have included in Exhibit 6 says sub 1, sub 1, $2,861,000 for PILs -- for income taxes, sorry.  Is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that's been revised when you apply the 9.85 percent and the 55 percent equity thickness; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the new number?

MR. FECTEAU:  We don't have that offhand, but it hasn't changed that materially.  We would have to get that to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How would it not have changed materially, when you increase your ROE and you decrease your debt ratio?  It should have increased by hundreds and hundreds of thousands of dollars.

MR. SEABROOK:  I don't believe it would increase by hundreds of thousands.  I believe it would still fall between 2.5 and $3 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it in the evidence somewhere?

MR. SEABROOK:  Not as a standalone item, I don't believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I am going to ask you to undertake to provide us with the standard revenue requirement work form, which includes the calculation of the various components of revenue requirement and including the calculation of tax and the calculation of cost of capital and the deficiency, but I am going to ask you to undertake to provide that using the updated ROE and the updated equity thickness that you are currently asking for.  Could you undertake to provide that?

MR. SEABROOK:  I apologize.  We did provide that in response to the first round of interrogatories, Board Staff No. 95, and this is filed as an exhibit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Staff 95?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes, Exhibit 10, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix 95(i).

MR. SHEPHERD:  What page is it, can you tell me, offhand?

MR. SEABROOK:  Page 16 of that schedule.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sixteen or 60?

MR. SEABROOK:  Sixteen.  And this is 10-1-2, appendix 95(i). Page 17 actually reflects an income tax figure of 2.833.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the number that you are asking the ratepayers to pay is 2,833,000; right?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand your current structure, the applicant isn't going to pay that tax, right, because the applicant is not a taxable entity?

MR. FECTEAU:  The partners will pay that tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's just get back to the question first.  The applicant is not going to pay that tax; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And because a partnership is a flow-through entity, the income is allocated to the partners; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the partners will pay that tax?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a very small amount that goes to the general partner, like one-hundredth of 1 percent, or something like that; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then all the rest of it goes to a company called Brookfield Infrastructure Holdings Canada Inc.; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's a Canadian control -- that's a taxable Canadian corporation, yes?

MR. FECTEAU:  That is true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it an operating corporation or a holding company?

MR. FECTEAU:  It is a holding company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it is, in turn, owned by a limited partnership; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that limited partnership is also resident in Canada?

MR. FECTEAU:  I'd have to just go verify that.  I believe so, but I would go verify it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then that limited partnership, the partner to whom the income is allocated, the bulk of the income, is a corporation in Bermuda; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  I would have to check into that.  However, the fact is the partner itself that owns the 99.99 percent interest in GLPT LP is a Canadian partner and would be subject to tax.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So let's pursue that.  BIH, the Canadian company that owns 99.99 percent of the Transmission Limited Partnership, it has other holdings; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it doesn't actually pay, and you don't expect it to pay, $2,833,000 of tax in 2010, do you?

MR. FECTEAU:  We expect them to incur a tax liability directly associated with GLPT for that amount for regulatory purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I am asking about the real world.  In the real world, it's true that they are not going to write a cheque for 2.8 million to the government, are they?

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, can you --

MR. KEIZER:  Can you repeat the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question was:  In the real world, the limited partner of the applicant is not, in fact, going to write a cheque to the Canadian government for $2.8 million in taxes, is it?
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MR. KEIZER:  Before the witness answers in 2010, that is an element of the confidential filing, so we'd wait for the answer on 2010 until those documents are appropriately disclosed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, are you refusing to answer the question?

MR. KEIZER:  No, we are not refusing to answer the question with respect to 2010.  It's that there is an element related to 2010 -- you are asking questions about BIH, and you are asking questions about tax payments in respect of it.  And I think on the record we have indicated publically 2008 and 2009.

There is a question in one of the interrogatories that relates to 2010.  That is the subject of a confidential filing.  So subject to the Board's order, that information would be disclosed in the context of the Board's order on confidentiality.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But, meanwhile, I am asking a simple question, if you know the answer.  If it's confidential, we can redact the transcript.  What's the problem?


MR. KEIZER:  It's because what we just discussed this morning, which is that we would deal with the Board's order with respect to the confidential information first, disclose the documents and deal with it subsequent to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you questioning the materiality of the question?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not questioning the materiality of the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I am entitled to an answer, Mr. Keizer.  Sorry.

MR. KEIZER:  I am asking you to -- in my view, it's subject to confidentiality and it's subject to the Board's order with respect to confidentiality, because the answer lies in the material which has been filed.  So, you know, at the same time, you are asking a question, and all I am saying is we will obviously be able to disclose it if we better understand the nature of the Board's order with respect to confidentiality.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But I think you've already disclosed it, haven't you?  The Board already has the material.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, the Board has the material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you just said on the record you are not objecting to its materiality.  Therefore I am not sure what the basis on which you could refuse to answer the question.  There is a question as to whether it's determined to be -- the answer's determined to be confidential, but not a question as to whether you have to answer it.  You have to answer it if it's material.

 I am just trying to understand your objection.  That's all.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand that.  I guess it's kind of a quandary we are in here with respect to the confidential information, because, you know, typically we would have it at this stage, I think, an order which would say:  Okay, it's confidential.  Deal with it in the context of how we would go forward with respect to the undertakings and otherwise.

 In our view, the material is confidential, so I don't know what the Board's order is going to say.  I am assuming it's going to wrap what we already have filed on Friday as confidential.  I don't want to necessarily impede you with respect to your examination.  So I guess my -- I look to Staff counsel for some help with respect to guidance as to whether we want to proceed with it.

 But I guess one way to deal with it is, let's -- I am concerned about the fact that if I deal with it now, then I will lose the element of confidentiality because I will have disclosed it on the record without the cover of the undertaking and the guidelines that are appropriate with confidentiality, in anticipation of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand how that could happen, though, because everybody in the room has signed the declaration, I believe.  And we have agreed that this transcript will be redacted for confidential information; we agreed that on the record at the beginning.  So I am not sure where the issue lies.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess the question is then –- well, I mean the issue, it's tied into the second round of IRs, which seems to be in a little bit of limbo-land in terms of whether it’s -– what confidentiality attaches to it or doesn't attach to it.  So I am proceeding cautiously because I don't want to otherwise affect that confidentiality by doing something of a public nature which would cause the confidentiality to be lost.  So that's my first concern I am just wrestling with.

 And the second is I obviously respect the fact that the question is relevant.  It was asked in an IR and it's been answered.  I guess one solution is, if we are going to proceed down the road on it, is that we would get your consent and get others' consent that we would treat the response to the question as being confidential.  And at that -- and then we can work within the context of the undertaking and what we are doing on that basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The response to the question that I am just asking?

MR. KEIZER:  The response to the question you’re just asking is effectively the response that's given in the IR.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you want me to agree that the response to the IR is confidential, although I haven't seen it?  Why would I do that?

MR. BUONAGURO:  You mean pending the Board's ruling?

 MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, pending the Board’s ruling, I have no problem with -–

 MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that what you mean?

 That's what he is offering.  He is offering to treat it as confidential pending the Board's ruling.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, of course.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I think we all agree.  Until the Board rules on the confidentiality of the outstanding material, everybody will treat it as confidential, including redacting this transcript, until the Board says whether it's confidential or not.  So I don't think we are arguing about anything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy with that.

MR. KEIZER:  Just so I understand, so we treat it as confidential until -- pending the Board's ruling.  If the Board rules in our favour, to treat is as confidential, to proceed on as it is.  And to the extent they say:  Disclose publicly, we haven't otherwise lost anything.  I think that’s your position.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.

MR. KEIZER:  Now I understand your position.  So if we are going to proceed down the road, then that's going to be the basis.  We treat it as confidential.

 Has everybody in the room signed the undertaking?

MR. MIKHAIL:  Yes, all the lawyers did.  And we are making copies for you, so you’ll have it --

MR. KEIZER:  And any consultants that remain in the room, did they sign it?

MR. MIKHAIL:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.  All right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is nobody here either who doesn't work for the applicant or Board Staff who hasn't signed it?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. MIKHAIL:  There is a gentleman in the back.

MR. KEIZER:  No, he is with us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then can I ask my question, then?  Is that okay?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, if we are proceeding on the basis that this --

MR. KING:  Charles, can I interrupt for a sec?  I haven't signed it.  I don’t know -- Scott signed it on behalf of Canadian Niagara Power, but if I need to sign it individually, I will undertake to sign.

MR. KEIZER:  You will have to sign individually, because it is part of a personal undertaking.

MR. KING:  Okay.  Absolutely.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, do you have an extra copy for Mr. King to sign?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have one here, because I have already signed mine.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  Okay.  So I understand that this will form part of the redacted portion of the transcript, subject to the Board's subsequent order.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.
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MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

 And if I understand correctly, then, how this works, the reason why the limited partnership is so effective, is because the limited partner has two sources of income.  One source of income is taxable; that's from the GLPTX.  And 
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MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the company's view, then, is -- tell me whether this is right, that based on the standalone principle, you have to treat the applicant -- that is the limited partnership applicant; I am going to come to that in a second -- but the limited partnership applicant as taxable, as if it were a standalone entity like a corporation.  And the ratepayers should pay the tax as if it were separate; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, very much in the same manner as what was decided in GLPD's distribution case, EB-2007-0744.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what I would like to understand is whether you're applying that same concept, that is that same interpretation of the standalone principle, to other costs.  For example, if you have -- what's a good example -- let's say the finance function would cost you normally $2 million, but because you can share facilities with related companies, it will only cost you a million.  Is your view that you should be able the charge 2 million to the ratepayers?

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, can you re-ask the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  If you have a function like finance -– I’m giving -- the example is finance –- that would cost you, if you did it all internally, $2 million, but because you have affiliates and parents and stuff like that, you can share some resources, as you do with your executives.  And because you share resources, the actual cost that you need to bear is only a million; your share of the cost is only a million.  Is it the million, your share, that the ratepayers should be paying under the standalone principle, or the two million that it would have cost if you were completely independent?  Which is the number?

MR. FECTEAU:  We were only passing on to the ratepayer direct OM&A costs that we incur.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't use the standalone principle in the same way for OM&A, for example, as you do for taxes; am I right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Well, what we are trying to do is ensure the ratepayers only pay the portion of costs that are directly related to the revenue or the services provided.  In that case, for OM&A purposes, we only pass on the direct costs.

As it relates to tax purposes, we are only passing on the direct tax liability that would occur as it relates to the income earned from the regulated entity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But here is what I am trying to 
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Can you help me understand how that works relative to your approach in OM&A and other things?

MR. FECTEAU:  I guess I am having a little trouble answering your question because, honestly, I thought I did.  We are just passing on the true costs of what it takes to run GLPT to the ratepayer and --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are not actually spending the money, though; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.  We are actually spending the money as it relates to OM&A.
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MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you worked for Brookfield at any point in your career, or is it all Great Lakes?

MR. FECTEAU:  My career has all been with Great Lakes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there anybody on the panel who has worked in a finance capacity with Brookfield?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I will ask the question anyway, and maybe you will know the answer.  Brookfield has a history of being actively involved in tax shelter transactions; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  I do not know that answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Okay, I won't go there, then.

Let me then turn to Staff Supplementary No. 10.  And here is what I am trying to understand.  You see at the bottom of page 16 of 55, the second last paragraph, you say, "there was no formal analysis performed of the alternative structures."  I guess you did a $200 million transaction, right, 200-odd million dollars?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have never -- I was a tax lawyer for many years.  I have never seen a transaction that big that didn't have an analysis of the tax consequences.  Are you saying there was no analysis of the tax consequences done?

MR. FECTEAU:  My understanding is that no analysis was done.  The Brookfield Canada already had a business operation held in the form of a partnership, and it made logical sense to turn this -- roll -- sorry, not roll it over.  To transfer to a partnership.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your answer here says there was no formal analysis done.  I assume that that -- is that just limited to Great Lakes did no formal analysis, or nobody did a formal analysis?

MR. FECTEAU:  My understanding is that no one did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then let me turn to Staff 11, and in Staff 11, in the response to (I), basically, as I understand what you are saying, it is although the partnership is set up to operate the business, in fact, the partnership isn't really a legal entity.  The partners are the legal entities; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  For tax purposes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I think that's -- I think what you say is:
"Since partnerships are not distinct legal persons and cannot be distinguished from their partners under either common law or Canadian tax law..."


So it's not just for tax purposes.  It's for all purposes; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, a partnership in law is a relationship between legal persons; correct?

MR. MCLURE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the applicant here is the legal partnership; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess I am a little confused as to how the applicant can be the partnership when the partnership is really just the partners.  Are the partners then not applicants?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think the application is an application by Great Lakes Power Transmission Inc. on behalf of Great Lakes Power Transmission LP where Great Lakes Power Transmission Inc. is the general partner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  But that's to follow the legal form of having the entity make the application on behalf of the partnership.  That's normal, but that doesn't change the fact that the partner that has the bulk of the income is the limited partner; right?  The limited partner is not an applicant here.

MR. KEIZER:  It's not appearing as a named applicant, but it is part of the partnership that's in question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's what I was getting to, because, really, the tax is going to be paid or absorbed, one way or another, by the limited partner; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so should we for the purposes of understanding this application, and should the Board for the purposes of understanding this application, understand that the limited partner is, in effect, part of the applicant; is that fair?

MR. KEIZER:  I think what we have said is that in the interrogatory questions is that -- which Great Lakes has said in the interrogatory questions is that the partnership is the partners, because the partnership doesn't exist as a separate entity in law.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are saying there is no applicant separate from the owners, right, of the partnership?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it doesn't have a separate person.  It's not a separate person, so it can't necessarily do anything other than what the partners cause it to do.  And in this case, it's a limited partnership, so there was one -- it's the general partner that, as you know in law, is the controlling mind of the partnership.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I am asking this is because as soon as you want some costs from one of the partners to be included in rates, I want to know all the other costs of that partner.  Do we have all the other costs of that partner somewhere in the evidence?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I am just trying to understand the connection, why you need to see all the other costs of that partner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because if it's part of the applicant, then we need all the information on the applicant.

MR. KEIZER:  So, for example, if these were divisions, you would need to see all the divisions' costs of a company?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Normally speaking, if you are division, then Board requires that you file the general information and the divisional information.

MR. KEIZER:  Meaning the financial statements?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, and budgets and detailed breakdowns.

MR. KEIZER:  Not that I recall.  I don't think that was the case in Great Lakes Power Distribution Inc.'s rate filing when it was filing as a division.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I'm going to ask.  Can you provide -- we have already financial statements for BIH; is that right?  Have you filed them?

MR. KEIZER:  I think they may have been part of the confidential filing, subject to check, but I think so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But we don't have their budget for the test year, do we?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.

MR. KEIZER:  It's a non-regulated business, that part of it.  So you have the regulated portion of what's going on with respect to Great Lakes Power Transmission LP, which is the regulated portion, which is what's relevant before this Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am going to ask for you to undertake to provide the 2010 budget for BIH Canada.

MR. KEIZER:  And we are not going to undertake to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a refusal?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  There is -- let me turn to Staff No. 14, I think it is.  But there is actually several questions in this, and I am just trying to find the right one.  Here we go.  It’s actually Staff 15.

 So Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP, who is that?  What entity is that?  How does that fit into this package?

MR. FECTEAU:  My understanding is the parent company of Partnerships Canada, Brookfield Canada.  I would have to confirm --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the parent company of BIH Canada, the corporation?

MR. KEIZER:  I think there is, is there not, an organizational chart?  And we'll just turn that up so we get an accurate answer.

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, can you re-ask the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP is the parent of Brookfield International Holdings Canada Inc.; is that right?

 MR. FECTEAU:  Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP is the limited partner of Brookfield Infrastructure LP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Which in turn is -- it's upstream from BIH Canada, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you say in No. 15, you say -– well, actually Staff says in the questions.  The ultimate unit holders of GLPTLP are the unit holders of Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP; is that right?  It's on page 29 of 55.

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And now Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP is located in Bermuda; is that right?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that Mr. Fecteau is looking at Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 12.  And I don't believe that the origin of the corporation is shown on that chart, so we would have to endeavour to find out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but didn't we see this in the Brookfield MDMA or whatever it's called, the discussion of -–

 MR. KEIZER:  The application?

 MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the SEC filing.  You had an SEC filing that you described who is related to who.  And isn't this one in Bermuda, or am I wrong?

MR. KEIZER:  We would have to go back and check the source.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We will follow it up later.

 So here's what I am trying to understand, here is what I am trying to get to.  If you see on page 30 of 55, in No. 3, it says you've limited your tax calculations to the first level, the direct partners of GLPTLP, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are upstream implications of that, right?  And people will have more or less tax, depending on how your structure works, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.  I believe for regulatory purposes the fact that the -- our limited partner is a Canadian- controlled corporation resident in Ontario, that the tax which is applicable will be -- is at that level.
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MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to get at is that Brookfield Infrastructure Holdings Canada Inc., looking at this chart, pays money -- dividends or returns of capital or whatever -- to Brookfield Infrastructure L,P which in turn pays money to Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP, and none of that is taxed, is it?

MR. FECTEAU:  Again, the income related to GLPTLP is subject to tax, and any tax that would be payable to that income is offset, per normal taxation rules in Canada.

[Page 61, lines 18-20 have been redacted.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We are past that now.

 I am now talking about the payments to Brookfield Infrastructure LP and upstream to Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP.  Those payments are not taxable payments, are they?

 MR. FECTEAU:  Dividends --

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you asking whether any payments that are being made above BIH are tax-free payments?

 MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

 MR. KEIZER:  The stream of income coming from GLP through BIH has never been subject to tax?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  So they would never have had to file a tax return or --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they may have filed tax returns.  The point is that we’re trying to figure out who’s actually paying the tax here.  You’re saying:  Ratepayers pay $2.8 million of tax; give us $2.8 million for tax.  And I am trying to figure out who upstream actually ends up 
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 And so all I am trying to find out here -- this is just a technical conference, and I am trying to avoid cross-examining.

MR. KEIZER:  Understood.  I am just trying to understand your question.
[Page 62, line 27 to page 63, line 1 have been redacted]

[Page 62, line 27 to page 63, line 1 have been redacted]

so if you could help me, that would be useful.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if Mr. Fecteau is in a position to be able to talk about what -- how Brookfield runs its operations above GLPT.

MR. FECTEAU:  No, I am not in a position to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, who can tell us whether somebody is paying tax on this money?

MR. FECTEAU:  We'd need to go back to the office and get that information, if it's even relevant information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to ask you, then, to undertake to find out whether anybody upstream of the applicant is going to pay that $2.8 million of tax or, if not, is any part of it going to be paid by somebody upstream eventually.  And if so, when and under what circumstances.  Can you do that?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just let me understand the question.  So you are asking that the 2.8 million that's in the tax allowance with respect to this, that based upon expected taxable consequences from unrelated businesses, unregulated businesses, as to whether at some point in time anyone ever pays a tax bill of $2.8 million?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking who actually pays it, when do they pay it, and under what circumstances.
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I am asking the question:  Who is going to pay it, actually pay it, write a cheque to the government?  And if the answer is nobody is, that's fine.  I am just trying to get clear what we are talking about, because then the issue is a policy issue.

I am not trying to deal with the policy issue now.  I am only trying to get the facts on the table so the Board can make a determination.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the problem I am having with the question is you are asking us to follow this money, trace it through, but it goes through so many checks and balances between a variety of regulated and unregulated businesses.  I am not quite sure I understand the relevance of it.

So it's clear, from what the evidence has said, is that that's where the taxable position stops.  That's the entity that pays tax.  BIH and GLPT Inc., those are the parties that are taxable entities.  Any money flowing above that has been subject to tax, and so I am not quite sure I understand it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How has it been subject to tax?

MR. KEIZER:  It is a Canadian corporation.  All Canadian corporations have to file tax returns.  They are all subject to paying tax on revenues -- on their net taxable revenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So the income, which is like $5 million or $6 million or something, on which that 
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MR. KEIZER:  I think you are treating it as though BIH is a tax-exempt entity, and it's not.  And if it was tax-exempt entity, then I think the question would be relevant, but it's not a tax-exempt entity.  As you indicated, it is subject to tax, and so that's why I don't understand why we would continue to follow it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask for an undertaking, and I take it you are going to refuse, but I want to get it on the record.

I am asking for an undertaking to advise who is going to pay the $2.8 million in tax provision, when are they going to pay it, what year, whatever, and under what circumstances are they going to pay it; that is, how is it going to be characterized so they have to pay it?

I am asking for actual payment, not tax liability.  Sooner or later, somebody has to pay that tax, I think, but I am just asking who and when.  Will you take that undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  And at this point in time, we will refuse.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me turn to another area, as we have beaten that one to death.  And the other area is referred to in Staff 19.

And just so that I understand the context correctly, prior to the Board regulating -- prior to the accounting procedures Handbook of November 1999, prior to that time, in 1996 or something like that, you revalued your assets in Transmission upwards by about $79 million; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.  According to GAAP, we revalued the assets by approximately $79 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that wasn't a revaluation for tax purposes.  That was only for accounting purposes?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it was because you did an internal transaction.  You did, like, a reorganization type of transaction; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  In 1996, Brascan, the parent company at that time, purchased the majority interest in the company -- effectively in the company, of which caused us or allowed us, under section 1625 of the CICA Handbook, to revalue the assets in accordance with GAAP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Brascan is the predecessor of Brookfield; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it just a change of name, or I guess it's actually changes in entities over the years; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  I can't answer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Too complicated for me, too.  So as a result of the change of control, GAAP said you had to revalue the assets to fair market value at the time of change of control, basically?

MR. FECTEAU:  Basically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And at that time, there was no regulator for you to ask is this okay; right?  You had nobody to ask, Can we do this for regulatory purposes?

MR. FECTEAU:  There was no reason to seek regulatory approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you came under the OEB's jurisdiction -- in 2000?

MR. FECTEAU:  May 1st, 2002 is when we started.

MR. SHEPHERD:  OEB-regulated rates?

MR. FECTEAU:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The Board didn't consider whether your rate base should include that bump or not; right?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  So I understand the question, when we entered the market in 2000 -- so there was a market evolution and the Ontario Energy Board became the regulator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  "Evolution" is a gentle word for it.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes.  And the creation of the accounting procedures handbook, I think the effort at the time was to transition Great Lakes Power Limited to the market by transferring the accounts over to the accounts identified in the accounting procedures handbook.

One of those accounts required the translation or the movement of the net book value of the organization over into the new accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the actual revaluation, I am just noticing here, wasn't 79 million.  It was actually 84 million at the time; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And by 2001 that had depreciated down to 76; is that right?  That's what this says, 76,480.

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then by 2005, it had come back up to 78,941.  How did that happen?

MR. FECTEAU:  I believe what you are referring to by the second number is actually the gross number before depreciation, and the first number was the depreciated value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It says here -- I am looking at page 36 of 55:
"The difference between the $84,100,000 and $78,941,000 represents the value associated with assets that had been written off between 1996 and 2005."


Those are gross asset values, so the depreciated value in 2005 was something less than that?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what that was?

MR. FECTEAU:  In 2005?  Not offhand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So could you undertake to provide the depreciated value in 2005 and the gross and depreciated value as of the beginning of this test year?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I get a number?

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO Provide depreciated value in 2005 and the gross and depreciated value as of the beginning of test year, together with breakdown of assets into classes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible in that undertaking to give us a breakdown of where those assets are, which classes they are in?  You know; right?  You have a list.

MR. SEABROOK:  That can be done, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So if you can include that, that would be appreciated.

Then you didn't make the same change for tax purposes, because you weren't allowed to; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that means every year when you do your T2S1 for the corporate tax return, your depreciation amount that you back out is much higher, because it includes that revaluation, than the capital cost allowance amount that you put in, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.  The depreciation amount is done in accordance with GAAP, and the tax -- UCC amount would be done in accordance with the tax legislation rules.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the tax that the ratepayers pay does not assume the increase, the bump that you took in 1996; it assumes original cost and depreciation on the original cost, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, can you rephrase that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you are calculating tax, the amount of tax provision you are asking the ratepayers to pay is based on original cost without the bump and capital cost allowance taken on that over the years, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.  When we rolled the -- when we transferred under the APH, we took the UCC, the tax UCC at that point in time, and transferred it to the -- for regulatory purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, doesn't that mean that the tax provision is higher than it would otherwise be?  If the tax was calculated on the same basis as the regulatory accounting is, that is assuming that the bump was allowed for tax purposes too, your tax provision would be lower, wouldn't it?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sorry, could you repeat the question again?  I apologize about that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This stuff is complicated; I get it.

From an accounting point of view, you are using assets with a bump.  You are not using assets with a bump for tax purposes, which means that your deductions are lower for tax purposes than they are for accounting purposes, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.  I have answered earlier we followed --

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not saying there is anything wrong with that.  I am just seeing what the implications are.

So the result is that the tax provision is higher than it would be if the tax was calculated the same way as accounting; true?

MR. FECTEAU:  Assuming that, they should be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I am looking at SEC No. 28, which is -- and it's page 32 of 43, and this is the impact on your revenue requirement, if I understand it, of the bump.  Do you have that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, I have it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so because your rate base is higher, your cost of equity is higher, your cost of debt is higher, your depreciation is higher, but here I see your income taxes are higher by $1.9 million; is that right?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  I just have -- I am trying to clarify in my mind the question.  The bump that you are referring to, we don't see that there is any bump.  As an earlier question, I think, that you asked, when we entered the market we were required to enter with our audited net book value.  I think an earlier comment was made that that net book value was the result of a transaction that happened in 1996.  But the net book value that we put in was fair and appropriate, so within that net book value, I don't think that there is a bump.

So I am not sure -- when you talk about the bump, are you referring back to the 1996?  I am just trying to clarify in my own mind.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  I actually used a term from tax planning.  A bump is an increase in the value of assets that you get without actually paying for it, a section 88 bump, for example.

So sorry I used jargon.  What I mean is you did a revaluation in 1996.  That revaluation continues to have impacts today; true?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  The revaluation resulted in a new net book value for the assets back in '96, which formed the basis of our -- the value of our assets entering the market.  So it's like any transaction that potentially happened by any utility pre-market opening, would have an effect on its net book value.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And I am not trying to have the argument here about what it should be, what the Board should do with that.  What I am trying to do is understand the implications, so that the Board, when it's deciding, knows what the implications are of its decision.

And so what I am trying to find out here is:  There is a tax impact of that, right?  And that tax impact is $1.9 million; is that correct?

MR. FECTEAU:  In the test year, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if it were not for that fact -- I won't call it a bump -- your provision for taxes would be 900,000 instead of 2.8 million?

MR. FECTEAU:  Approximately, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Just while I am on that SEC No. 28, I have two other questions about that.

The first is part of your calculation is a cost of debt of 6.874 percent.  That's the adjusted cost of debt, your weighted average cost of debt currently in the application?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 2.5 percent depreciation, I was a little surprised at that, because don't you have a lot of assets that are more than 2.5 percent?

MR. FECTEAU:  The revaluation was done all over 40 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all assets were 40-year assets?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's the way that it was recorded, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess if there were assets that were much shorter than that, they might be gone by now anyway, because it's 15 years ago, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Potentially.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  All right.  So then let me turn to -- I have a bunch of smaller questions.  I will just go through them item by item.

I am starting with Staff No. -– sorry, VECC No. 19.  And I am looking at (b), your answer on page 2 of 8.  You were asked what's the contingency amount that's actually built into your projects to this subtotal.  So you said it's $2.3 million.  And it looks like you just estimated that, right?

MR. SEABROOK:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you actually know what the contingency amount is in each project?

MR. SEABROOK:  The contingency amount we would typically use is 10 percent.  The 2.3 million would be 10 percent of the -- call it the estimated values of the projects at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I understand.  You took 25.3 million and you divided by .9.  I understand that, but I thought you were asked what was actually included in your budget.  And you didn't go to the projects and look and see what contingency was in the projects, did you?

MR. SEABROOK:  No.  We didn't go to each individual project to identify that, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the second question I have is with respect to VECC 21.  And in (b), am I right in understanding that when -- when PST is removed and you have HST instead, is there an impact on working capital of that?  Does that create a lead, in the sense that you collect the HST before you pay it to the government; do you know?

MR. SEABROOK:  Based on my knowledge, yes, to a certain extent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have no way of quantifying that, though, right now?

MR. SEABROOK:  At this point, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that leads to VECC 22 where you said, well, in order to figure out exactly how much PST you paid last year, you'd have to go through 1,000 invoices; do you see that?

A thousand invoices seems like not very many, but did you consider doing a random sample?

MR. SEABROOK:  No.  We didn't consider that for answering this IR, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I am looking at Staff 2, and I am on the second page of that, which is page 3 of 55.  And right near the top you say, the fifth line:
"GLPT has received the benefit of increased productivity of the management team..."


And you have referred to that in a number of other places, too, this increased productivity.  Do you see that?

So I am trying to understand how you are using the term "productivity", because normally when you talk about productivity, you talk in terms of a person being able to accomplish more functions in the same period of time or at the same cost.  You are not talking about that here; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  When we are talking about increased productivity, the fact that some of the shared management now has the ability to spend their entire time on GLPT, they are able to make more efficient use of their time as it relates to GLPT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here's what I don't understand.  They are still performing the same function; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  They are performing that function, in addition to the answer to -- I gave earlier.  We are also able to absorb other functions, as well, such as relieving the parent company of services they used to provide to us, also in regards to legal services, also in regards to First Nation, also in regards to taking on other major tasks, such as, as I had mentioned, the rate application or financing or other such activities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I understand that.  Let's disaggregate that, then.  With respect to the functions that they were doing prior to this change, they are still doing the same functions, those same functions, but they are spending more time on them now; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  They are doing those functions, plus additional functions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Leave the additional functions aside.  Just talk about the ones that they are still doing.  They are now spending more time on those functions; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  The same proportionate amount of time they would have spent on those functions prior to the split is, in my opinion, roughly the same approximate amount of time that we would spend on them now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So everything that they are doing now that is additional productivity, as you call it, is additional functions that they didn't do before?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  And then I am going to go to
No. 3, Staff No. 3, and this is just -- I didn't understand this chart, and so perhaps you could help me out.

You have an increase, through reallocating space, in January 2009, and then another one in July 1st, 2009 relating to full control of OSCC.  Can you help me understand the difference between those two changes in the allocation?

MR. SEABROOK:  The first change of 29 percent took place in January of 2009 in terms of allocating costs, and there was actually a physical reallocation that began in 2009, as well.  The change that is related to OSCC was strictly related to Transmission, GLP Transmission, becoming the sole operator of that system control centre.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, in January, you took more space.  In July, the existing space that you were using for OSCC, which you were sharing the costs of, you took all of the cost?

MR. SEABROOK:  Previously, the OSCC costs were Great Lakes Power Limited's costs.  As of July 1st, 2009, GLP Transmission began operating that, and, therefore, the office space allocation related to that was allocated to GLPT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have somewhere in the evidence a full summary of all of the revenue requirement impacts of the takeover of OSCC?  Is that somewhere in the evidence?  I am trying to think of where I had seen it.  I don't think I have.

MR. SEABROOK:  I don't think there is any single summary of in the evidence of that impact.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide a summary of all the revenue requirement impacts of the change to have the OSCC operated solely by Transmission?

MR. SEABROOK:  I believe we can do that, yes.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  To provide summary of all revenue requirement impacts of change to have OSCC operated solely by Transmission.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When were you planning to have lunch?

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  What's a good time to break in your questions?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am now sort of jumping around, so it could be any time that's convenient.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Okay.  We can do it now and come back at 1:30.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:23 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:34 p.m.

Procedural Matters:


MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Before Mr. Shepherd continues his cross-examination, I just want to state on the record what was discussed before and during the break.

All the counsel and parties have now provided the Board standard confidentiality declaration undertaking.  Mr. Keizer has distributed the second batch of information for which he has requested confidential treatment; that was filed with the Board on April 9, 2010, so all the parties have that now.  And there was some discussion earlier on the record about how until the Board makes a finding, which parts of the -- or if any of the material is to be treated confidentially.  For the purposes of today's technical conference, the information and questions and answers pertaining to that material will be treated by all parties confidentially and the transcript will be redacted.  And so just make sure that everybody is clear about that, that anything pertaining to that material is going to be treated confidentially until the Board makes a final finding or decision with respect to whether it will be treated confidentially going forward.

Okay?  Anybody have any comments or issues out of that?

Okay.  Mr. Shepherd, whenever you are ready.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So we were talking about Staff No. 4, I think, or maybe we hasn't got to it yet, but anyway I am on Staff No. 4, Supplementary No. 4.

On the second page of that, which is page 7 of 55, you’ve described how you calculated this 21 percent variance resulting from staff mix.  And I have to confess I read it through like 10 times and I didn't understand it.  So I wonder if you could take that last paragraph that describes how you calculated it and just walk us through it, explain it.

MR. SEABROOK:  I guess perhaps what I can do is just explain the concept of the staff mix, and in the evidence that was filed and the prefiled evidence, we filed the benefits on a per-FTE basis, and this would be a per-FTE being all full-time regular and temporary employees.

So let's just use, I guess, an example of staff mix where there is two employees; one is a regular employee and one is a temporary employee.  The regular employee would draw a higher benefit cost.  Let's say they draw $100; the temporary draws zero.  This makes your total benefit costs $100 for the two employees, so your benefit cost per FTE would be $50.

Now, if we change the staff mix and make both of these employees are regular employees, and as a result they would attract the higher benefits, $100 each, so $200, so now our benefits per FTE is $100 per FTE instead of 50.  So by reducing the number of temporary employees which draw a lower benefit cost, and increasing the number of regular employees, we would increase our benefit costs per FTE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason why I was confused is that I thought -- I didn't realize the change in staff mix is entirely driven by whether they are part-time or full- time.  That's the only criteria, right?

MR. SEABROOK:  Under that change in staff mix line, yes, it's only related to temporary versus regular part-time, full-time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I thought change in staff mix was what positions were filled and at what levels they were, and that sort of thing.  None of that is in there?

MR. SEABROOK:  Not in that line, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Much easier to understand now.

And then another place where I had a difficult time understanding what you were saying is Staff No. 5, response 1, at the bottom of page 9 of 55.  And if you could just walk us through the -- how this calculation works, that would be of assistance, again, just because I couldn't get it.

MR. FECTEAU:  For each key performance indicator, for each group -– sorry, let me restart.

So for each group -- we have four different groups, three different groups in particular, that our incentive plan is based upon:  Business performance, group objectives and individual performance.

For each one of those groups -- and we will use performance as the group in question here -- there is a percentage allocated of the variable comp -– or of the incentive pay, sorry, to that particular group.  In this instance, 30 percent was allocated or was -- the portion of the incentive pay was 30 percent of total.  Then, depending on the overall performance that is achieved within that area, that 30 percent will be multiplied by a factor between 0 and 2.  In this case, as an example, going from 30 to 43.5, we would have achieved a higher performance rating, thus increasing the percentage from 30 percent up to 43.5.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just looking for the table to which it refers, so I can track that back.  So really what's happened, another way of looking at this -- and I am looking now at Exhibit 10, tab 1, schedule 1, and this is page 51 of 206, which is the table that this Supplementary refers to.  Do you have that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're doing the calculation for business performance here in the Supplementary, but the other way to look at it is you could just add up the percentages for the various components, and that total is what percentage of your incentive compensation you are going to get, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I was trying to make it more complicated than it was.

Then on the next page in your Supplementary, page 10 of 55, in subsection (2), you've reached the conclusion that because you're -- because incentive pay is being earned at 1.2 times the target, that that suggests, quote:
"The targets are attainable when appropriate effort is put forth".

Now, of course, the other possibility is that the targets are too easy, right?  And so without effort, they are getting 1.2 times.  I guess the question is:  How do you tell the difference between the two?  Do you have a metric or a methodology to ensure that you are getting these achievements because people are putting effort into It, rather than because you set the target too low?


MR. McPHEE:  Just to clarify, there is a metrics which apply against the key performance indicators, as described by Mr. Fecteau.  And as in any of the metrics, there are times when you will over -- the target is 1.  There are times when the multiplier, as it's stated here, will be 1.2.  And for another example, in 2009 the target of 30 percent was not achieved and 17 percent of the target was achieved, so there is a metrics that, from our perspective, is very reflective of the efforts put forward, and the metrics focus on business.  And then the combined elements of the next portion being safety, environment, reliability, capital, execution within scope and budget, O&M and some specific things during the year.

I guess the other thing I would like to say is anything greater than the target of one is borne by the shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, help me with that.  Where is that in the evidence?  Did I just miss it?

MR. McPHEE:  My last comment?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McPHEE:  It is not in the evidence, and it's a point that I wanted to make.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason for that is, when you forecast your budgeted costs, you don't know what the achievement is going to be, so you assume one?

MR. McPHEE:  Exactly?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if it's less than that, then it costs the shareholder less, but presumably the shareholder also incurs some pain, because people didn't do as good a job as you wanted?

MR. McPHEE:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Conversely, if it's more than one, the shareholder pays that additional cost, because it wasn't in the budget, but, at the same time, the shareholder presumably gets a benefit from the fact that people over achieved?

MR. McPHEE:  Performance of the company was greater than expected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I am not sure I still understand the answer to my initial question, because -- and here's my problem, is you referred to 2009 when the business performance actual was only 17 percent, but I look at the total, and the total is 127 percent, so --

MR. McPHEE:  Over a four-year period, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am looking at the total for 2009 over the three components, 17, 80 and 30.  And so I am saying, well, that's 127 percent.  So, yes, on a business basis, the business performance was not good, but nobody paid the price for that, because they got 127 percent of their incentive.

MR. McPHEE:  That's because in the areas other than business, the common objectives, which I talked about being safety, environment, capital, O&M --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McPHEE: -- they over achieved the target, which -- when you say the stretch of the target, is it too easy?  In general, they are achievable, but they are stretch targets, and we did have very good performance in those areas during that time frame that you described.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good, and I am not questioning whether it's good or bad.  What I am asking is a more simple question, which is:  What is the way you tell that the target is a stretch target?  What is the process you go through to say this is the target that constitutes a stretch?

Is it just judgment?  Is it management's judgment?

MR. McPHEE:  The metrics is a very formalized metrics that scores from 1 to 5 on the individual target, and the stretch is determined in accordance with discussions with my senior manager.  And we agreed that these are stretch targets for individuals.

And, for example, to achieve a five in safety and environment, we require zero high risk incidents.  So that would constitute a five.  And if you had three high risk incidents without contact, that would constitute a one.

So there are varying degrees associated with each one of those metrics which are agreed upon by my senior manager and myself as stretch targets for our people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer to my question, then, I think, is - tell me whether I am right - that management has experience in the area and uses its judgment to set a target that it believes will be challenging for the employees to meet?

MR. McPHEE:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Sorry, I am trying to -- some of these things have been dealt with already, so I am passing them up.  Here we go.  Okay, yes, here.  So now I am looking at Staff Supplementary 22.

Now, this refers, in part, to SEC Interrogatory No. 11 in which you are asked:  What are you going to do with all this stuff that you are taking out of this station when you're redeveloping it?

And your answer was, and it's quoted in the question:
"Where possible, GLPT intends to redeploy assets removed from service."


So that was your original answer.  And now I am looking at the question that Staff asked, which is:  So are you going to redeploy these 15 breakers?


And your answer is, well, no, 14 of them -- this is on page 46:  Fourteen of them are completely useless; we are just throwing them out.

Right?  I am paraphrasing, but that's essentially it; right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  In the first response, we did say we would redeploy where we could.  We didn't state at that point in time how many or which ones.  It came down to this, and it was more specific:  There are 14 bulk oil breakers that are over 40 years old and have been extended beyond their useful life, not to mention the fact that their ratings are actually inadequate.

Based on that fact, we will remove those breakers from service and they will be scrapped, and we do have one breaker that does have adequate ratings, as well as a number of motorized operated air brakes and disconnect switches that we will redeploy in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So the things that you are redeploying are not just this one SF6 breaker.  There are other things you are going to use elsewhere?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the book value is of all those things that you are going to use elsewhere, or can you give me an idea?  Is it $100, $1 million?  Just ball park is fine.

MR. SEABROOK:  Between $1 and $2 million, we are hoping, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 14 bulk oil breakers, you can't actually just put them out at the bottom of the driveway and have somebody take them away.  There is a cost to dispose of them; right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That is correct.  There is a cost of disposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you included a cost of disposal in your application?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yes, we have, and it's part of that project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's part of the capital cost of the project?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not treating it as a negative salvage cost of the old assets?

MR. SEABROOK:  At this point, the disposal costs of those assets will be spent in, I'm assuming, 2011 or '12, depending on the timing, and I expect it will come into service in the rate base through the capital addition at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You will treat it as capital cost of the new station as opposed to a negative salvage cost of the old asset?

MR. SEABROOK:  At this point in time, yes, that's our plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much we are talking about?  It's not insignificant; right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I don't know the answer to that right now.  I don't have that information in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a relatively big number?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Relatively big in terms of what?  I am not understanding your scale.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, never mind.  That's fine.  So then when you said there is cost of disposal included in this application, they are not included in the revenue requirement this year; right?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you come back in to file later this year for next year, we will be seeing them again?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's where they would show up, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Thanks.  I am now looking at your appendix 16(i) to Staff supplementaries.  It's Exhibit 1, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix 16(i), and I am on page 9 of 12.  Do you have that?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can you just repeat the cite again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit 11, Tab 1, schedule 2, appendix 16 (I), page 9 of 12.

MR. KEIZER:  okay.  Thank you.

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  okay.  So at the bottom of that page -- when you do audited financial statements, you are required to calculate the fair market value of assets and liabilities and put them in the notes, right?  In some cases, and for example, here at the bottom you have to -- you calculate the fair market value of the first mortgage bonds, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the method you use to do that is you actually look at what is the implied market price for that debt based on its interest rate relative to current interest rates and its term?  It's a math calculation, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here you have got an implied -- a fair market value of $384 million of bonds as $576 million, so I take it that means that interest rates were lower than the rate on the debt.

MR. FECTEAU:  I am just reviewing -- can I have one second to review, please?

 Sorry, can you restate your question again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  The first mortgage bonds have a face value of 384 million, but a fair market value of 576 million.  If I understand correctly, what that means is that the market interest rate at the time of this valuation was significantly lower than the 6.6 percent face interest rate.  That's why you get the higher valuation?

MR. FECTEAU:  I'd have to take a look at it in more detail.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, that was just a set-up question anyway, because what I would really like is I would like you to give us the calculation for where you got that number.

MR. FECTEAU:  These financial statements are for 2006 and would have been part of GLPL at the time, and we have not looked at how that calculation was done for that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who are your auditors currently?

MR. FECTEAU:  Deloitte.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So same auditors, right?

 MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

 MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can make a phone call; they can give you the calculation.  They have it.

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, they can.

MR. SHEPHERD: Could you please undertake to do that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, we can.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.7.
 UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO Confirm with auditors the difference between fair market value and face value of bonds.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then on the next page, in note 6, there is a discussion of a loss on disposal of transmission assets.  Now, do I understand that there was an actual loss on a sale, or is this not a real loss?  Were these assets actually sold and a loss taken?

MR. SEABROOK:  These assets were taken out of service at the time of the transmission reinforcement project in 2005.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, okay.  And were any of these assets revalued as part of the 1996 transaction?

MR. SEABROOK:  Part of the write-off, the revaluation you’re referring to, went from 84 million down to 79 million; correct?  Is this the same revaluation?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not my question.  In 1996 you revalued a number of assets, and that increased the value for book purposes, for accounting purposes.  Then later you took a loss on some assets.  Those assets that you took the loss on were any of the ones that had their value increased in 1996.

MR. SEABROOK:  We believe it's approximately 3 million, and that's part of moving that gross value from 84 down to 79 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the loss of 8,264,000, that includes that 3 million, right?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are recovering that 3 million loss from ratepayers?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you didn't actually lose that money, because they didn't actually cost you that much?

MR. SEABROOK:  It was the difference in the value of the assets.  That was the net book value of the assets that were written off at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And are you still recovering any of this in the test year?

MR. SEABROOK:  No, we don't have a provision to recover anything related to this in the test year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is being recovered over five years, commencing April 1st, 2005?  So as of last month, you are finished recovering it?

MR. SEABROOK:  I believe we talked to this point a little more extensively in prefiled evidence.  I will just refer you to the section, Exhibit 9, tab 1 schedule 2.  And we talked about the treatment of this particular balance and what the balance is at December 31st, 2009, which we're requesting disposition of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are requesting disposition this year of an amount?

MR. SEABROOK:  As noted in that schedule in table 9, 1, 2B, the closing balance at end of 2009 is a $71,000 balance payable to ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you have over-recovered in the previous period?

MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because your billing determinants were higher than projected to do the recovery over the five years?

MR. SEABROOK:  Actually, as described throughout that schedule, there was an adjustment made to the value of the write-off post-decision made in that application.  And as a result, we have over-recovered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So for our purposes, as of the end of last year, you had recovered it all?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On that same page in your financial statements -- we are still on page 10 of 12 -- there are two transactions at the bottom that I don't understand.

 The first is due to “related parties settled through the allocation of first mortgage bonds,” $27 million.  Do I understand correctly that you issued $27 million of first mortgage bonds to a related party without them paying cash for them, but instead offsetting something that you owed them?

MR. SEABROOK:  I can't speak to the details of that transaction at this point, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let me -- before I ask for an undertaking, let me ask the second question:  What about the next line, the “taxes payable settled through an allocation of first mortgage bonds”?  Do you know what that is?

MR. SEABROOK:  No.  I believe it's a similar item to the one above it, though.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these two amounts totalling $47 million, are those first mortgage bonds still owing by the transmission division, or are they now owing -- is this something that relates to generation?

MR. SEABROOK:  I believe this 47 would form part of the 120 million in debt that's outstanding at this point for transmission.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then I will ask you, then, to undertake to provide an explanation as to what those two items are.

MR. SEABROOK:  I think we can do that, yes.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Sorry, was that an undertaking given?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING No. JT1.8:  to Explain the two transactions at the bottom of page 10 of 12 of the financials statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, next I am looking at Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix 17(iii).  It is headed up "Great Lakes Power Transmission Inc. 2008 Allocation of Taxable Income From GLTP LP".  Do you have that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have to admit I had some difficulty following through on this, and so perhaps you could help me to understand.  You understand this chart or somebody there understands this chart?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you just walk through the steps of this chart and explain where you get to this $2.9 million and how it was -- how you arrived at it, because some of these numbers, I don't understand why they are there.


MR. FECTEAU:  The 11,565,000 directly relates to the income earned -- net income before tax per GLPT's financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's 12 months of income?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's 12 months of income.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. FECTEAU:  And that 12 months of income also included income from January 1st to March the 12th, of which that was prior to the transfer of assets over to the partnership.  So the income applicable to that period we've taken out, which is the 3.149.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that was income of the partnership prior to the transfer of assets, or income of the Transmission business prior to it being owned by the partnership?

MR. FECTEAU:  The Transmission business, prior to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this is Transmission business income.  The 3.149 million is Transmission business income in its previous owner?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

MR. FECTEAU:  That's giving us the $8.4 million, which directly related to the net income earned under the partnership.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is accounting income from the Transmission business from March 13th, 2008 to December 31st, 2008?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  So then these things here, the next set, are your T2S1 calculations?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the depreciation is, again, the partial year?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the loss on disposal?

MR. FECTEAU:  Again, that relates to the assets that were written off under the TRP that we had just discussed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so that's the regulatory asset?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then the capital cost allowance is also for that shortened period?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, why is so much higher than depreciation?

MR. FECTEAU:  As we had discussed earlier, the net book value upon which depreciation is calculated is higher than the UCC upon which tax is calculated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and that's why it doesn't look right to me.  It should be the other way around.

MR. SEABROOK:  Sorry, just to jump in here, the big driver is the rates used.  The vast majority of the assets of the Transmission company are depreciated on a straight-line basis at 2-1/2 percent over a 40-year life.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEABROOK:  For tax purposes, assets purchased are put into class 47, which is depreciated at 8 percent.  So, as a result, it's an accelerated depreciation rate for tax purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is 8 percent declining balance; right?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you took the bump -- I won't use "bump".  Because you did the transfer at fair market value, actually, your tax values went up; right?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.  This is the March 12th transaction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we talked earlier about the fact that when you did the revaluation in 1996, you didn't make a change for tax purposes.  Did this transaction rectify that by moving your tax values back up to where they would be at fair market value?

MR. FECTEAU:  No, the only adjustment to the UCC would have been 50 percent of a gain that GLPL would have experienced due to a difference between the proceeds that were allocated to the asset base, which were equal to the net book value, and the existing UCC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, wait a second.  The amount you are allowed to include in UCC is the previous UCC, any recapture amount, right, up to the original cost, and 50 percent of the amount over the original cost; correct?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the UCC, then, should be increased by recapture.  You'd have some recapture?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And half of the gain?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't want to chase down a mismatch between the revalued accounting amount that you are including in rates and the tax values, if the mismatch is not there anymore.  So I wonder if you could undertake to provide an analysis of the -- let me just think how to describe this.

In 1996, the accounting and tax went different ways.  Tax had to stay at original book.  Accounting went to a different number.

In 2008, there was an adjustment, because you did a fair market value sale.  Can you track the impact of those two transactions on the test year?  Just show us how those two things work out to whether tax and accounting are now matched or still mismatched and, if so, to what extent.  Can you do that calculation?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that would be wonderful.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  to TRACK THE IMPACT OF TWO TRANSACTIONS ON THE TEST YEAR

MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't ask me to explain what I just asked.  You understand; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Glad one of us does.

Still on the fair market value, I am now at School's Supplementary No. 5.  And we talked about -- at that time about and we asked you about the two different formulas used to calculate fair market value, one in 2008 and one in 2007.

And your response is that Brookfield Renewable Power, which operated this business in 2007, had one way of calculating it, and Brookfield infrastructure Partners, which operated it in 2008, had a different method of calculating it.

Do you know the differences?  Can you just give us a brief description of what these differences are and whether we should care?

MR. SEABROOK:  This is actually a really good example of one of the services that the company provides.  The people in this panel weren't involved in the calculation.  We know it was the same general formula used in calculating it, and we are told it's a matter of a change in the inputs in the formula.

We don't believe it has a big impact on the rate application here in front of us here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you say immaterial effect, are we talking about $10 or $1 million?

MR. SEABROOK:  I don't believe the fair market of our debt in 2007 and 2008 impacts our 2010 requirement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what you have said here is that the auditor said it had an immaterial effect on the calculation.  So that means the calculation didn't change that much?

MR. SEABROOK:  To the best of our knowledge, no, it didn't change very much.  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would have had a materiality level at that time of, what, half-a million dollars, a million dollars?

MR. SEABROOK:  I can't speak to that.  I am not sure what the materiality level was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are any of the people on the panel accountants?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are an accountant?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you understand the concept of materiality from an auditing point of view.

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD: So am I in the right range?  Half a million, $1 million is the sort of materiality you’d have for auditing purposes?

MR. FECTEAU:  On GLPT statements?  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  Thanks.

I am now looking at SEC No. 12, and this is pole rentals.  And so you have calculated that the appropriate rental fee per poll is $22.35.  Where is that from?

MR. SEABROOK:  I believe this is from joint-use agreements.  I believe it's a Board number, 22.35 per pole per year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you are saying that after you net out the amount that you've already got in the revenue requirement of $14,000, there is another $20,000 that really -- that GLPL should be paying for this, and that we should, I guess, treat this as an amendment to your application for $20,000?

MR. SEABROOK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.

In Schools 16, on page 16 of 43, we asked about some of the things that are in the first supplemental trust indenture.  And in B, we asked about the fact that at the time of the transaction, right before the transaction, you had a fourth indenture, or you had another amendment.  Each supplemental indenture is like an amending agreement, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had one at the time of the transaction, then you had a new deed of trust, and then you had a first supplemental on that on the same day, so why did you have these three steps?  I looked at your explanation and I don't understand.

MR. FECTEAU:  My understanding is during the transaction, the initial debt was held under one deed of trust.  So what was anticipated to -- what occurred is they took the debt under the existing deed of trust, split it into two amounts, and that's what the four supplemental achieved, and then --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could segregate generation?

MR. FECTEAU:  And transmission.  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. FECTEAU:  And then the new debt was then created under GLPT with the new dead of trust, and then we issued the new funds to offset the amount that was allocated to transmission.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So step one is you get -- in the transaction itself, you are actually doing it in three steps.  The first part of it is you separate transmission because that's what you want to deal with, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a new deed of trust for that area, which is sort of the foundation for all future borrowing.  And then you borrow the amount you already had borrowed for transmission, the transmission component in the first supplemental.

MR. FECTEAU:  Right.  You paper it.  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  And then I understand correctly, do I, that on the next page now, in number C, that if interest rates go down, then -- if interest rates go down, then the redemption price is going to be effectively the face value?  And if interest rates go up, then it will be the Canada yield price plus the premium?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Help me out.

MR. FECTEAU:  Okay.  The clause is – basically, the clause gets enacted when and if GLPT were wanting to redeem the price -- sorry, redeem the bond.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s good.

MR. FECTEAU:  And if we were today to go and try to redeem the full $120 million, what this clause is trying to do -- it basically says -- and I am going to use a word that I am not sure if it's exactly the right word -- almost like a make-whole amount, where the bond payers, we have entered into an agreement with them that they would earn 6.6 percent over the life of the bond.

If we redeem early, what they end up looking at is saying:  If I were to get my money today, I could go invest it later -- I could go reinvest it.  To the extent they can earn a return that is equal to or greater than what GLPT has agreed to pay them over the life of the bond.  We would only pay the face amount.  To the extent that they cannot earn that amount equal to what we have agreed to, based on today's rate, using the formula that's included in section 2.5, we would pay them the present value of the difference, to make sure they were whole.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.  So I had it backwards?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  Then on the next page, page 18 of 43, the amount of bonds held by non-residents, do I understand this correctly, it's only $3 million?

MR. FECTEAU:  I believe it's that this clause only comes into effect for US bondholders who purchase more than 3.125, not stipulating that there is only 3.125 in US bondholders.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So then so what this says is –- now, at the time you did this transaction, these payments were exempt from withholding, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so all this provision is saying is:  If the rule changes, you will still net the same amount.  We will eat the difference.

MR. FECTEAU:  That is my understanding, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And right now in your revenue requirement, you don't have any amount for indemnified tax because you don’t expect to pay it, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I am looking at SEC 19, and this is about infrared scans, and you said that the cost differs depending on how many kilometres and how many stations are scanned, but you didn't, in the answer, tell us the difference in how many kilometres or stations are scanned from 2007 to 2010.

Can you tell us the difference in either kilometres or stations that's causing that difference in cost?

MR. GAZANKAS:  In 2007, the $13,000 amount was specific to number 3 Sault transmission line.  That transmission line is approximately 70 to 80 kilometres long, and that was the cost associated with that and that project.  It was specific to that project, as I mentioned, and we basically had to discuss this and get Hydro One on board fairly quickly, so there wasn't a lot of time to plan this out.

In terms of 2008/2009, there was no infrared scanning done on transmission circuits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then 2010, you have 60,000 in the budget, which I assume that means you're doing a lot more kilometres?

MR. GAZANKAS:  We absolutely are, yes.  We intend on doing our system, 550 kilometres.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In School's No. 20, there is an increase in the cost of danger tree management.  Danger tree management is trees that you see create an imminent risk to your system; right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so if I understand what happened, in 2009 you had some cash flow issues, and so you put off some work in that year and you are now doing it in 2010; right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that catch-up is in the revenue requirement; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much is it?

MR. SEABROOK:  Approximately $400,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So once you finish the catch-up, you will go back to a more normal danger tree management activity in subsequent years?

MR. SEABROOK:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  Now I am looking at School's 23, and I have two questions about this.  You entered into a lease arrangement for the SCADA system, and so the first question we asked is:  What's the business case?

Do you not do business cases normally, as a matter of course, when you are making judgments about whether to buy something or build it or lease it, or whatever?

MR. FECTEAU:  In specific cases, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in this one you didn't?

MR. FECTEAU:  We had made a decision that we wanted to operate the OSCC or the SCADA equipment, and we looked at alternatives.  And based on the fact that through our negotiation with GLPL we were able to come up with a good reduced rate on behalf of the ratepayer, we decided that we should go down that avenue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you did do a business case, in the sense that you did all the things that you do in a business case.  You calculate what your choices are and which ones will cost more than the others ones; right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.  Not formally documented, but, yes, the thought process was there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do it all in your head; right?  You did calculations?

MR. FECTEAU:  Informal calculations, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't you at some point have to go to management and say, This is what we propose to do and here is why we think this is the best option?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who would approve that?

MR. FECTEAU:  It would be approved during the normal business planning process, which would go from -- be at the senior management level.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, now, that's confusing me a little bit, because this wasn't really normal; was it?  I mean, this is not something you do every day, reorganize your company and now you don't have SCADA anymore?

MR. FECTEAU:  No, it's not normal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that be part of your normal business planning?  I would have thought it would be part of your analysis of how you are going to do the reorganization transaction.

MR. FECTEAU:  When we decided to take over the SCADA equipment, we went down to GLPL and held a meeting to determine what the fair -- what a fair market price would be.  From that meeting, our notes and our discussions were basically captured within the SCADA agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but, no, you had this meeting; right?  Then you had to go back to your management and say:  We had this meeting.  This is what's offered.  We think it's a good idea because of X, Y and Z.

Didn't you have to do that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't have any paper?

MR. FECTEAU:  I used the SCADA agreement and explained it verbally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How could you have an agreement if management hadn't even approved it yet?

MR. FECTEAU:  I used the basis of the agreement, sorry.  I guess could there have been notes kept in a notebook that I used at that time?  I do not recall, and I don't have those notes at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you make presentations to management when you are asking for approval for things?

MR. FECTEAU:  On -- yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So wouldn't there be a presentation, like a PowerPoint or something?

MR. FECTEAU:  Not on this item.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you tell us what other options you looked at other than leasing the existing equipment from GLPL?

MR. FECTEAU:  The approach used and the alternatives we reviewed are included in Exhibit 10, tab 1, schedule 1, page 80 of 2005 -- sorry, page 205.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me then ask one more question about this transaction, and that is:  You talked about how only half of the depreciation is being borne by GLPT, and GLPL is bearing the other half; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They don't have a use for the SCADA system; right?

MR. McPHEE:  GLPL continues to use a portion of the SCADA system until June 30th, when their new SCADA system will be commissioned, of this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then this is just a loss to them after that?

MR. McPHEE:  They will not have any use for the SCADA system after June 30th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then why are they bearing half the depreciation?  You know, it makes me suspicious when an affiliate says, Oh, no, you don't have to pay full cost.

MR. McPHEE:  They have had the value of using the SCADA for one year as part of the agreement, and we feel that's an appropriate number.  We were able to -- or Mr. Fecteau was able to negotiate with them.  So for the use of one year, we are able to use the SCADA under the lease agreement for three years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, let me understand this.  GLPL gets to use it free for one year, but it's not free.  They are still bearing half the depreciation?

MR. McPHEE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the other costs associated with it, you are bearing all of it?

MR. McPHEE:  Any of our support costs, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the trade-off for that is that then for the next two years after that - am I right? - the next two years after that, they are going to bear half the depreciation without getting any benefit?

MR. McPHEE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they have done that because they feel that that $294,000 in each of those two years is worth roughly the value of having it for one year?

MR. FECTEAU:  I can't speak to their intent, but through our negotiations, all they do -- all they -- they have access to a piece of equipment for a year, and after that point in time they will not have access and we will continue to have the benefit of only paying depreciation at 50 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know, the other thing I wonder about is:  What about the tax consequences of this asset?  GLPL is getting all of the tax consequences?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is there a shelter implicit in this?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How much is the CCA?

MR. FECTEAU:  I would have to take a look at that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the other thing is they are getting a new SCADA in July, right?  Or June?

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, can you -- what are we talking about?

MR. SHEPHERD:  GLPL is getting a new SCADA in June, right?

MR. McPHEE:  They are in the process of acquiring a SCADA system, yes, that is to be functional June 30th.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this a pooled asset for CCA purposes?

MR. FECTEAU:  I can't answer that question right now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I am going to ask you to do, then, if you could, is -- you are familiar with the phrase “puts and takes”?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In a business deal, you have puts and takes.  You get some things and you give some things.

MR. FECTEAU:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I wonder if you could do a calculation of the GLPL puts and takes in this agreement, that is:  What are they giving up, and what are they getting, including the tax consequences?   So they are getting -– there’s some value associated with the fact that you are running the system and they are getting to use it.  There is some value with respect to them giving you -- basically bearing half the depreciation for three years.  Those don't appear to be equal, and I am looking at whether there is also a tax part to this as well, which is also a benefit to them.  I am trying to balance it out.  Can you do that?

 The reason I am looking for it -- before you object, the reason I am looking for it is I am trying to see why it's fair to the transmission business.  And right now, it appears to be portrayed as GLPL is giving you a gift.  I don't believe that's likely, so therefore if we can balance it out, then it looks like a fair deal.  If it looks like they are getting additional benefit because of tax or whatever, then the Board will have to ask whether that's an appropriate affiliate transaction.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the only question I have to clarify, though, is I don't know to what extent it's within your power to actually -- given the fact they are two separate entities, they carry on separate businesses, they carry on separate financials, I guess -- my question, I guess, is whether or not you have the power to actually do the analysis related to GLPL.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All you can do is your best efforts.

 MR. KEIZER:  So the -–

 MR. SHEPHERD:  You can ask them for the data, and if they don't give to you, they don't give it to you.  And then we will have to deal with it.

MR. KEIZER:  So to the extent that we can.

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, we can.


MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  to make reasonable efforts to advise TAX CONSEQUENCES OF GLPL PUTS AND TAKES IN THE AGREEMENT

MR. KEIZER:  Let’s say “reasonable efforts.”


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I am looking at Schools 24.  In Schools 24, we asked -- this is Supplementary 24 -- we asked about how is the OSCC dealt with in the agreements.

 Now, presumably you had to deal with it; it's part of the transaction, right?  The OSCC?  I mean it was changing, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  There are no documents through the transaction that refer to the OSCC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me understand.  You do a transaction that is going to result over time in the OSCC being yours, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How was that agreed to?  Was it not part of the transaction?

MR. KEIZER:  Just to clarify, I think the question is related to the distribution transaction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  So are you referring to the distribution transaction or the March 2008 transaction?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I thought the OSCC was coming under your purview because of the distribution transaction; is that not true?  Was it because of the 2008 transaction that it became yours alone?

MR. KEIZER:  I am just asking.  The panel can clarify which it is, but --

MR. FECTEAU:  When we read this question, we believed it to read:  As part of the distribution, was there any documents in regards to the distribution sale?  Did we produce any documents in regards to the OCC and the sharing of that -- of the OCC with Algoma Power?  And there was no such document under there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason you have the OSCC all to yourself is not because of the distribution transaction.  It is because of the March 2008 transaction, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  No.  It relates to a decision we made to operate the OSCC on our own, and it refers back to the -- I believe the date we referred to is July 1st, 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but it came about as a result of an operational change in which you are no longer a company with more than one aspect to it; you are now a company that does transmission, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's as a result of these previous transactions, right?  The sale of the distribution business and the split of the generation and transmission business, right?

MR. McPHEE:  Could you ask that question one more time for me, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not sure I can, but I will do my best.

MR. McPHEE:  Okay.

 MR. SHEPHERD:  You split up the operations into its three components -- generation, transmission, distribution -- through various transactions, and prior to that, the OSCC was shared activity.  And because you split it up into the components, through sales, through transactions, the result is that now, transmission has the OSCC alone, right?

MR. McPHEE:  For the transmission business, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the reason why you have it alone is primarily because you split up transmission and generation, or because you sold the distribution?

MR. McPHEE:  Not because we sold distribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it’s because you split up generation and transmission?

MR. McPHEE:  We made a decision that once the decision was made to separate generation and transmission, that we would retain operation of our transmission business solely, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And generation is looking after their own --

 MR. McPHEE:  Completely looks after generation.  We do not provide them any support.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it's the March 2008 transaction that would be the one that generated -– that required you ultimately to -- resulted ultimately in you having control of the OSCC yourself, right?

MR. FECTEAU:  In the -- first of all, GLPT made the decision that we wanted to operate and keep control of the OCC on our own.  As a result of the distribution sale or the MAAD application that dealt with distribution, GLPT became both an owner and operator of the transmission system.  GLPL was no longer an owner or -– sorry, no longer an operator of the transmission system.  As such, it wasn't appropriate for GLP -– for generation to monitor the activities of the transmission system.  So a decision was made that for GLPT to be able to properly carry out our mandate to manage the system appropriately, that we wanted to do it on our own.

 At that time, we had options that we would have considered.  One of -- very quickly, a philosophy decision was made that we wanted to maintain our own system, because we didn't want to pass that responsibility along to any third party.  In addition, because the GLPL no longer was an owner/operator -– sorry, an operator, in this case, really our option was to have either a generation employee look at transmission or monitor transmission, or a transmission employee solely monitor generation, of which that wasn't acceptable to us.

 So for business purposes, we went forward with the decision we made, and took control of the OSCC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the March 2008 transaction, were there references in that transaction to what's going to happen to the OSCC?

MR. FECTEAU:  I would have to refer to it, but I believe there is reference to the SCADA equipment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So can you undertake to provide copies of any references in that transaction to -- the March 2008 transaction to -- the March 2008 transaction, to the OSCC and what's going to happen to it after?  And when I say copies of the references, please include enough of each of the references that we can understand what the definitions are, and stuff like that.  So the whole agreement would be best, but if the agreements are really voluminous, then just enough that we understand the references; okay?

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Do we have that undertaking?  It will be JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  Provide copies of any references in March 2008 transaction to OSCC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My last question relates to SEC supplementary 36 and 38.  The question is the same for both of them, so I will -- what we asked you for was we asked you for the plan, the multi-year capital plan and the multi-year operating plan, and we asked you for the presentation material and supporting documents that you put to the decision-maker as part of the approval process.

So what we got is we got the plans, or -- well, we got the plan for capital, that's clear.  It's a technical review document, but I take it this is your actual plan; right?  This document is your actual capital plan?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's 54 pages and has quite detailed analysis of what you are going to do, when.  And then we have something called budgeted financial statements, nine pages, for 2010 through 2014, which I take it is written in financial statement format, but I take it that this is -- this operates as your budget; is that right?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have a more detailed budget than this?  I am looking, for example, at the statement of income, and, you know, like, you don't have much breakdown here in the components of your spending.

Does your board or your senior management not look at that?

MR. SEABROOK:  The most recent detailed budget we have is the 2010 budget, which is filed in the test year application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was asking for the five-year plan, though.  You don't have a five-year plan?

MR. SEABROOK:  We do not have details in terms of OM&A costs for '11 through '14.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what we asked about was -- what we asked for is the presentations and supporting documents.  When you go to get this approved, you have to explain it; right?  This is why we are taking this approach, these are the things we thought through and the trade-offs we have made in order to make this work.

And all I see is the plan here.  So were there, like, presentations and supporting explanations and stuff like that, as is normally the case?

MR. FECTEAU:  There are some other supporting documentation that, when answering the question - I wasn't aware or misread it - that I did not include.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Who approved this?  Who approved these plans?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  So the plans would be approved by senior management in the operating company, so it would be the general manager, and, ultimately, it would come to me.  And through presentations, we would approve both the annual program and five-year outlook.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a five-year rolling plan; right?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  I think it's important for us to have a vision.  Most of these capital projects, as with the one we have been talking about earlier, they are multi-year projects, and they usually start with sort of an engineering review and looking at alternatives, and then moving forward to selecting the proper alternative and move forward with that.

And then associated with that capital program, we have to then look at how we are going to fund the program and what borrowing we may have to do to make sure we can execute properly.

So it a rolling five-year program that we look at.  The details in year 1, obviously, if it's a multi-year project, we probably look at the detail of the project itself, and then we monitor throughout the year.

And just as a follow-through, once the budget is approved, we have a system where individual requests are put forward for each project, so then we have very, very specific project packages that are put forward for approval of spending.

Even if it was approved in the budget, we still have to go through that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Is there a board of directors somewhere that approves the five-year plans?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  So there is a board of directors for GLPT.  I am a member of the board.  We have two other members, an independent and one other member from Brookfield.  So we will approve the plan and will monitor the plan going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So then you wouldn't just get this capital plan.  You would get this capital plan plus a presentation, backup information, an explanation for why this should be approved?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  So depending on the project and the scale of the project, we will get individual packages on -- for instance, the large substation project we have been talking about, there are individual packages for that that we can review in detail.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a separate process?  You do the five-year plan separately from --

MR. ROSENTHAL:  They can tie together.  It depends on the scope of the project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Go ahead.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  There are large projects and there's smaller projects.  There are some projects that are undefined, so there is sort of a bucket.  We know there is a certain replacement rate that a normal utility goes through, just because of replacement.  It's a proper replacement time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just reality.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.  And then you have the large projects.  The large projects we take time to really look at and we spend a lot of time reviewing them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you to find the money; right?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Exactly.  And that's why, as you said, it's true it's a five-year rolling plan and we have to continuously ensure we have the proper funding to execute it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what I would like you to do, then, if you could, maybe one of you anyway, is please undertake to provide the presentation materials that went with both the capital plan and the five-year budgeted financial statements when they were approved.  Could you do that?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  to Provide presentation materials that went with both the capital plan and the five-year budgeted financial statements when they were approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all my questions.  Thanks.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Might this be a good time to take an afternoon break and come back at 5 after?

--- Upon recess at 2:51 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:11 p.m.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Welcome back, everyone.

Mr. Shepherd isn't here, but I believe we have finished with his questions.  And Board Staff had another couple of questions that they wanted to ask now that the second batch of confidential information has been distributed to everyone, so unless anybody objects, we will have Board Staff get their couple of questions out and over with.  Okay?  Everybody is fine with that?
Questions by Mr. Skinner:

MR. SKINNER:  Duncan Skinner.  In the confidential package, under Exhibit 11, tab 3, schedule 2, appendix 05 A, there were two tax returns provided.  The corporation’s name is shown as “BIH Canada Inc. pro-forma GLPT income tax” and there is a T 2 federal return, and a provincial CT 23 return.  And I was wondering if you could tell me if these two tax returns have been filed with the tax authorities.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Seabrook, do you have that?  It's the confidential material that was filed today.

MR. SEABROOK:  Today?  Sorry, could you just repeat the reference for us?

MR. SKINNER:  Sure.  It’s Exhibit 11, tab 3, schedule 2, appendix 05 A.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I think we have got the wrong confidential binder, by looking at it.  It's in the first confidential filing I believe.  Sorry, it was not part of the confidential filing, it was part of the supplemental IR responses.

MR. SKINNER:  Which is confidential.

MR. FECTEAU:  We have that now.

MR. SKINNER:  Were they filed with Canada Revenue Agency and the Ontario Ministry of Finance?


MR. FECTEAU:  No, they were not.

MR. SKINNER:  And what is the purpose for providing them in evidence?

MR. FECTEAU:  We were asked to provide the GLPT impact on BIH Canada from a standalone perspective.  So we prepared these tax returns as if the non-regulated business was removed.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  Based on the interchange that took place earlier, the dates on these tax returns show as January 1, 2008 to December 31st, 2008, and I think they actually relate to the period March 12th, 2008 to the end of 2008.  I don't think anything turns on the change in date, but I think it's consistent with the answers you gave earlier to Mr. Shepherd.

MR. FECTEAU:  You are correct.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions on the comprehensive revaluation of the fixed assets in 1996.  I am hoping that you can eliminate the confusion that I have in my mind.  Do you know what the net book value of the fixed assets in the transmission business were in the application that was filed with Ontario Hydro to get your 1995 rate order?

MR. FECTEAU:  Sorry, can you restate that again?

MR. SKINNER:  Yes.  What I am trying to get to is:  You did a revaluation in 1996?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. SKINNER:  What were the values of the transmission Assets, either in your application filed with Ontario Hydro for 1995 rates, or your December 31, 1995 financial statements?

MR. FECTEAU:  The net book value of those assets  are -- were approximately $26 million.

MR. SKINNER:  So when the statements show comprehensive valuation of $78 million, was that 78 million added on to 26 million?  Or was it that the assets were raised from 26 million to 78 million?

MR. FECTEAU:  The $84 million comprehensive revaluation was in a -- you would add that on to the 26 million to come up with 110.

MR. SKINNER:  Would you be kind enough to put that in a table?  Like there are a lot of numbers; there’s 78, 76, 84.  Could you provide a table that would show the December 31, 1995 gross and net book values for the transmission assets, and then what happened with the comprehensive revaluation?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes, we can.

MR. SKINNER:  Good.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  to Provide table showing December 31, 1995 gross and net book values for transmission assets and what happened with the comprehensive revaluation.

MR. SKINNER:  Do you know what the basis of valuation was?

MR. FECTEAU:  My understanding is the basis of valuation was they valued the assets based on the depreciated replacement cost.

MR. SKINNER:  Do you have that valuation available, and if so, could you provide it?

MR. FECTEAU:  I do not have that valuation at my -- right now.

MR. SKINNER:  Could you undertake to try to find it, if it does exist?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO Provide basis for the valuation.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  Just one clarification, though.  The net book value that resulted from that transaction in '96 was according to Canadian GAAP, and so the combined number that you mention is a fair and constituted net book value.

MR. SKINNER:  I am only trying to understand what the techniques were to go from a $26 million number at some point in time to whatever the number became.  I am not even sure if your valuation is a valuation for generation, distribution and transmission as one business, and you have taken components of that valuation, or if you actually have a valuation for each of the components of the business.  I don't know.  But in your evidence, you said that the transmission assets were comprehensively revalued.  That was mapped, then, to an APH in whatever the year was for submission in your 2001 application.

I am just trying to understand your process and what the numbers actually were that gave rise to what you submitted to the Board in 2001.  Would that be possible?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MR. SKINNER:  Was the valuation done by a third party or was it down in-house?  Was it a professional valuations expert who did the valuation?

MR. ROSENTHAL:  I think our understanding was that we were going to look to see whether we could find the record.

MR. SKINNER:  Okay.  All right.  That's all my questions.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  Okay, who wants to go next?  Mr. Buonaguro?
Questions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I only have a few questions, and they are fairly small in scope, but you here so I am going ask them and get them on the record while we are here.

Board staff IR No. 21 (3), you are asked to talk about the inflation rates for wages, and you indicated in that answer that the union wages and benefits from the '06/'07 year to the '09/’10 year were 3 percent a year, and that the increases for non-union employees were, over the same period of years, two-and-a-half per cent, two-and-a-half per cent, 0 per cent and 3 per cent respectively.

And then in part 4 of that same response you say that the 3 percent is an inflationary figure at a job class level and does not reflect the impacts that may occur as a result of job class progressions or the impact GLPT is experiencing as a result of OSCC operations.

Just very briefly, in terms of the rates of inflation that were used for those years, are they included in any contracts?  For example, I am assuming, and you can tell me if I am right, that the 3 percent per year inflationary figure used for union wages would have been included in the collective agreement?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you provide that agreement?

MR. FECTEAU:  Yes.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO Provide collective agreement for unionized employees.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for the non-union employees, would those inflationary increases occur in some kind of personal services contract on a job-by-job basis, or how are they fleshed out in writing, if at all?

MR. FECTEAU:  There is no document that states it at an individual level.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  It occurs to me, and particularly with respect to the 3 percent increases, that they don't actually tie directly to the actual rate of inflation; am I correct?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.  They are the amount that's in the collective agreement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  And moving on to a different topic, in VECC Supplementary IR No. 23, you're talking about the implementation of building envelope improvements to GLPT's portion of your complex, and I had some off-the-record help here, so I think I understand now, but I am going to get it on the record from you.

The discussion in the interrogatory response is essentially that there is no connection between GLPT doing their portion of the improvements on the part of the premises that they have, or, as you put it, their portion of the complex versus whether or not Algoma Power Inc. does anything to their part of the complex.  And my understanding, newly found, is that that's because the complex is essentially two separate buildings?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you do your improvements, it's to the GLPT building, and that has no effect on what happens in the other building?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And, lastly, and you have been brought to this a couple of times already, but in Board Staff 28 and Board Staff Supplementary No. 7, you were asked about - I'm putting it in quotes - "increased productivity measures" -- or, sorry, "indications of increased productivity".

And at least certainly Board Staff Supplementary No. 7 talks about more productive senior management as a result of the sale of the distribution business.  I just want to confirm what I understood you to be saying.

My understanding is that prior to the sale, you had an executive management team that was -- or a senior management team that was doing both distribution and transmission; correct?

MR. FECTEAU:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you talk about increased productivity as a result of the sale of the distribution business, what you mean is that same team is now focussed entirely on transmission and so it does more transmission than it was doing before?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that what they are replacing is, in fact, to the extent the original arrangement, where they were doing both transmission and distribution, you would have one team doing both, and then if anything they couldn't do, there would be consulting.  You would have to hire some sort of external help to top them off, I guess, to get all the work done, but you don't have to do that anymore, because that same team is now only responsible for transmission?

MR. FECTEAU:  We don't need to, to the same level or same extent, not that we don't need to do it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And that prior to the sale of the distribution -- and I am assuming this is fairly obvious, but because you were -- that management team had its interests between distribution and transmission, the expenses associated with that management team would then be allocated to the two different areas of the business?

MR. FECTEAU:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's obviously not the case anymore.  Now they are 100 percent allocated to transmission?

MR. FECTEAU:  That is correct, and I would like to point out that when we went and looked at our benchmarking, we were able to determine through our benchmarking that our total -- our OM&A expenses were reasonable.  So I think that we are doing the best that we can with what we have.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am counsel for Energy Probe.  And I don't have many questions either, but they are almost exclusively concerned with operational and construction-type matters, and I am not certain who on the panel will be addressing it.  If that person is behind the pillar here, I will move to a more obvious location.

Is it someone that can see me?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I think so.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.  The first question concerns Board Staff 9, and you may not have to turn it up, but my question concerns the NERC and IESO standards that are referenced in this IR.  It's also referenced in various other IRs, but this is a good one to start with.

I wonder if you could just give me a better understanding of what these NERC and IESO standards obligate the company to.

MR. GAZANKAS:  Specifically if we look at FAC-003 standard, which is a NERC standard, as a licensed transmitter in the Province of Ontario, we have requirements to abide by the Transmission System Code.

In the Transmission System Code, I believe under section 5.2.1, a transmitter is required to operate and maintain its transmission system with good utility practice and basically to market rules, the -- and basically all applicable standards.

So in that, when GLPT operates and manages and maintains its transmission system, obviously we believe that NERC is a standard that is a part of being a responsible transmitter in the Province of Ontario, and we abide by those standards put forth.

MR. FAYE:  Let's take the NERC standard, for example.  Does that tell you how wide to brush your rights of way?

MR. GAZANKAS:  No, it does not.

MR. FAYE:  Does it tell you how many danger trees you have to take out in proximity to your lines or what constitutes as danger tree?

MR. GAZANKAS:  No, it does not.

MR. FAYE:  If I understand it right, it's a general provision that says you have to abide by good utility practice, (a), and you should be able to demonstrate to the proper authorities that you are abiding by it.  But, in general, you make up what your utility practice is going to be, do you not?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I don't say we would make it up.  We would -- again, take the FAC-003 standard, for example.  You know, we take that and we research other standards that are out there and apply that.  So we don't necessarily make it up out of thin air.  It's something that we research and compile to develop our programs moving forward to be in compliance with those standards.

MR. FAYE:  Does the standard provide you a target that you have to meet in any quantifiable terms?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Again, if I look at the FAC-003 standard and I look at the IESO reporting requirements - I believe it's Form 1527 out of the IESO reliability compliance schedule - in that form that we fill out, by exception or on an annual basis, there are specific categories for vegetation outages that a transmitter must report.

So a Category 3 outage or a vegetation-related event would be an event that was from a tree that fell into the transmission lines from outside the active right of way.  A Category 2 would be a tree or vegetation that fell into a transmission circuit from within the active right of way, and then Category 1 would be an incident or a vegetation-related outage that would be a grow-in.

So basically if we left the right of ways unattended and the tree grew into the transmission circuit and caused an outage, that would be Category 1.

So there are requirements that we need to meet.

MR. FAYE:  That sounds to me like they are reporting requirements you have to meet.  Would that be a good way of summarizing that?

MR. GAZANKAS:  There are reporting requirements, but of course we don't want any Category 1 or Category 2 outages.

 MR. FAYE:  No, I am sure you don't, but what I am trying to get at is that the NERC standards, the IESO standards all relate to how you will report on how you doing your vegetation management.  They don't tell you how to do it, how often to do it, how comprehensively to do it, do they?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Not specifically, no.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Are there any penalties if you have one of these danger trees fall into the line?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I believe there are.

MR. FAYE:  What would they be?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I can't tell you for sure, but I know that there’s been penalties levied in the United States, from what I –- what I understand.  I could research that.

MR. FAYE:  Are you aware of any in the Province of Ontario?

MR. GAZANKAS:  No, I am not.

MR. FAYE:  Are there provisions in either the Transmission System Code or the market rules that permit an authority like the IESO or the Board to levy a fine in case of a danger tree falling into your circuits?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I am not aware of any such provision.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So is it fair for me to take away from that little conversation that you're really self-governing on this?  You try to do the best you can; you don't want unnecessary outages, and if you were really, really bad, then maybe the Board or the IESO would have something to say to you about it, but in general, you are self-policing, right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  We are self-policing but, again, I am not sure whether there are penalties or fines that would be levied against a transmitter in this province.  It's possible.

MR. FAYE:  I guess just to clarify, if you are thinking about the market rules, I mean I think Mr. Gazankas can apply what he believes in the Code and what he understands in the rules.  But there may be rules in there -- I don't know if he has reviewed the rules in entirety to clarify that, so --

MR. GAZANKAS:  I have not.

MR. KEIZER:  So I mean it's something, if you want, we can undertake to find out.

MR. FAYE:  I am not sure.  It was sort of peripheral to the question.  The question was trying to understand what the authorities could require you to do under those NERC and IESO standards, and I think I understand what you said, that they require you to exercise good utility practice, report regularly on incidents, but in general you are in charge of the program, not them.

MR. GAZANKAS:  Generally speaking, yes.

MR. ROSENTHAL:  I just wanted to add to that it's very similar to our safety program.  We adopt best practices in all facets of our operation.  We don't accept the minimum guidelines as the ones that we will meet.  We will adopt best practices, either ones that are adopted by other utilities or other organizations, in order to ensure that at the end of the day we provide the best level of service and reliability to our customers.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thanks for that.

 On that same Board Staff 9, on page 18, part 10, there is a statement to the effect that you don't collect statistics in the SAIFI and SAIDI format.  I wanted to ask you:  Well, how do you know whether you are doing a good job on vegetation management?

MR. GAZANKAS:  What we will do is we do collect customer delivery point performance standards, and those standards are a Board requirement.  What those standards do is collect -- they track the statistics on frequency and duration of outages for any specific customer connected to the GLPT system, and they are set up in such a fashion that identifies trending in poor performance, or good performance, for that matter.  And it’s a requirement that if trending in poor -– if there are downward trends, that the transmitter looks at those statistics and determines the issues, works with the customers to mitigate any problems that they have with the system.

MR. FAYE:  I believe -- not possibly in that IR -- I believe I read somewhere else that you reported on these kinds of incidents relating to vegetation, and it seemed to me there was only two years in the last five where you actually had an outage that could be attributed to a vegetation issue; do I recall that right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.  We are doing a very good job.

MR. FAYE:  How do you know you are not going too good a job?  If you never have a free fall in, I say that's a very good standard to reach, but how do you know you couldn't reach that standard with less work?

MR. GAZANKAS:  GLP does have a vegetation management program.  It’s a program based on six years; it's a six-year cycle.  It's not something we do everything all at once.  We believe we have, based on the data we have collected over the years and our interpretation of statistics -– sorry, not statistics, standards, applicable standards to this, that we have applied the right about of work and dollar amounts to establishing this program.

MR. FAYE:  And when you say that, do you benchmark that?  Is that how you come to that conclusion, that others are doing similar and having similar results?

MR. McPHEE:  There are -- our program, as Mr. Gazankas spoke to, is a six-year program, and there are various lengths of programs in industry.  It can vary from a four- to a 10-year cycle, and we have adopted a six-year cycle.  And we feel that's the appropriate cycle for the amount of transmission we have.

 And I guess to the point, if one danger tree fell into the bulk system which Great Lakes Power is part of, that would be one danger tree too many, so I don’t think a measure of danger trees falling into a system is an acceptable measure.

MR. FAYE:  The way I understood that statistic was that it was outages that occurred because of vegetation interference, not necessarily just danger trees.  I am sure there are other vegetative interferences that occur that can take your circuit out.

 But you have brought up this six-year cycle, and I believe elsewhere in the evidence there is mention of the fact that there is a float year in that, that you actually do it on a five-year cycle, and the sixth year is there just in case you didn't get it all done, I think.  Do I have that right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Do you do any of this work with in-house staff or is it all contracted?

MR. GAZANKAS:  We do actually utilize both in-house staff and contracted staff.

MR. FAYE:  How often do you need to use that float year for catch-up?

MR. GAZANKAS:  We have only used that float year once since we started that program.  Keep in mind that Great Lakes Power is located in a part of this province where snowfall is large, the access to right-of-ways is somewhat difficult at times, so obviously we put the buffer in, that additional year buffer, to be able to account for times where we can't get into locations and other potential items that may delay that program.

MR. FAYE:  It sounds like you don't have to use it too often, that it usually works out you have got your work done in the five-year cycle.

 What do you do in the sixth year, the buffer Year, if you don't have any work to do?  What do your staff occupy their time with?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Again, we do use contracted staff and we have a fairly small full-time staff, and typically that year would be a planning year for those individuals, trying to support -- not trying, supporting the program moving forward.

 We have adopted this contracted staff versus full-final staff complement to be able to ride through situations where there is more work or less work in any given year.

MR. McPHEE:  Just a point of clarification, in the sixth year there is work going on.  It's just to the extent and the quantity of work that would happen over that period in the year, in that particular year.  So I didn't want to leave the impression that there was five years and then sixth year there wasn't any work.  It's the level of work that gets done, or the quantity.

MR. FAYE:  I am not sure I follow that.  It sounds like -- let me tell you what I think I am hearing.  It sounds like you plan your system on a five-year basis.  You divide up all your rights-of-way that need to be treated or cut, or whatever you do, and year 1 you go out and try and do your work, and, from the sounds of it, often you get it done; year 2, same thing; and similarly for 3, 4 and 5.

At the end of five, it sounds to me like, barring any problems, you have got all your five-year work done in five years.  What's left for the sixth year?

MR. McPHEE:  The way our plan works is that it is a six-year cycle and there is work done in all six years.  I guess if there are -- the level of activity can vary in those years, so that over the course of six years, we have gone through our transmission right of way.

MR. FAYE:  So I should understand it as a six-year cycle, not a five-year cycle with a buffer year, then.  Okay.

MR. McPHEE:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, that makes perfect sense to me.  One more question on those NERC and IESO standards.  This sounds like you have had to spend some money to implement a system that would comply, and it sounds like it is something fairly recent.

What was the previous standard prior to NERC saying, Because of the 2006 outages, we need a higher standard here?  What was the standard before that?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I guess the standard at the time, to my understanding, was brush control, floor control.  We applied, again, whatever we could at the time from a best utilities practice, believing that that was an appropriate standard at that point in time.

MR. FAYE:  Do I take that to mean that NERC didn't have a standard and they only brought it in because of problems?

MR. GAZANKAS:  To my understanding, the FAC-003 standard was brought in after the 2003 blackout, because it was a vegetation-related outage.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Board Staff 72, a couple of questions on this.  This has to do with transmission structure reinforcement.  I wanted to ask you what kind of structures these are that they need reinforcing.

MR. GAZANKAS:  These are H-frame 115 kV wood pole structures.

MR. FAYE:  Could you just sort of give us a physical picture of what one of those things would look like?

MR. GAZANKAS:  It looks like an "H".  There are two 75-metre structures with a cross-arm that attaches both points.  The two circuits hang on the outside -- or, sorry, two conductors hang on the outside and one conductor hangs in the middle.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And that's an engineered structure; right?  It's self supporting?

MR. GAZANKAS:  It is, yes.

MR. FAYE:  What do you need to reinforce a structure that's been engineered to be self supporting for?

MR. GAZANKAS:  The structures in question are extremely old.  Upon review of condition assessments - they're 45 years old - we found there was severe carpenter ant damage and rotting at the bases of the structures.  These structures emanate and run right through the city of Sault Ste. Marie over top of houses and churches and roadways.

Through conditions assessments, we felt that the structural integrity could be compromised, and we went forward with this project to reinforce the -- I guess the pole bases of the structures where they were rotten.

MR. FAYE:  And what would the reinforcement consist of?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Basically a 20-foot length of steel that is pounded beside the structure to a certain depth, and then it is strapped to the structure above ground.

MR. FAYE:  And that sort of encapsulates the rotted section and carries any load on the structure?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct.  Yes, it does.

MR. FAYE:  There is also mention in that IR of cross-bracing.

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  What does that consist of?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Again, there is H-frame construction.  It has a cross-arm.  The cross-arms in question are wood.  Again, they are very old within the City of Sault Ste. Marie, subject to pollution from the local steel mill and such.

Again, through condition assessments, we felt that some of them were rotting to the point where they required reinforcement.  So instead of a cross-arm which makes the H, what we did was, under that cross-arm, we installed cross-bracing to join the two structures to reinforce it from any movement.

MR. FAYE:  So the bracing comes up on a diagonal and attaches to the -- somewhere along that --

MR. GAZANKAS:  It will attach to the wood.  You have your two poles, and then the cross-bracing would fit in the middle.

MR. FAYE:  It just braces the poles?  It doesn't brace the arm?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Exactly, exactly, and the arms were inspected and tightened where required.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So that sounds to me like a pole reinforcement, not a cross-arm problem.  Am I wrong there?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Well, it's a little bit of both.  It's still -- the structural integrity, you know, the transmission structure, the H-frame structure is strong because of the cross-arm member, and we did install the cross-bracing for less movement on the cross-arm because of them being suspect and, as well as additional reinforcement to the structures.

MR. FAYE:  You could just replace the cross-arm, though, could you, or no?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Not without -- it's very challenging just because these circuits feed industrial load and such, and outages are somewhat challenging.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the reason is you don't want to take the circuit out of service and drop customers, when you can sort of put in a repair type of system?

MR. GAZANKAS:  At times.  It's a lot more comprehensive.

MR. FAYE:  All right, that's fine.  The last question I have is to do with School's supplementary 20, and this is the redevelopment project on Third Line TS.

I think before we go to that, there is an exhibit in the main evidence, and it's Exhibit 211, page 14.  It has an aerial photograph of this transformer station.  I think it would be helpful for you to be able to explain some of the questions.

MR. SEABROOK:  Can you repeat the page reference, just the page number?

MR. FAYE:  Page 14 is what I have noted here.  I am just looking it up myself and --

MR. GAZANKAS:  Are you referring to the photo on page 7 of 81?

MR. FAYE:  I will tell you in a moment.  Yes, I am.

MR. GAZANKAS:  Okay.

MR. FAYE:  So when I look at this photo, I see some areas highlighted.  And the part nearest -- at the bottom of the photo, that's the 115 kV station that you have this trouble with and you want to build a new station about; is that right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  In School's 20, there are some problems discussed about connectors and strain bus insulators, and I wonder if you could just show me on this photograph which are the strain bus insulators that you are talking about here?

MR. KEIZER:  Is this the supplementary School's 20 or the original Exhibit 10?

MR. FAYE:  It's supplementary 20.

MR. KEIZER:  The one I have in front of me, the School supplementary Exhibit 11, tab 3, schedule 1, it relates to danger management trees.

MR. FAYE:  Then I have made an error.  But I am sure we probably don't need to have that in front of us just to answer the questions that I don't know the answer to, such as:  In this photograph, which are the strain bus insulators?

MR. GAZANKAS:  It's a little difficult to describe on this picture.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I see a whole lot of insulator strings here.  Some are running parallel to the page and are at a low elevation, and some are running into the page and are at a higher elevation.

MR. GAZANKAS:  Those would be the ones in question.

MR. FAYE:  The ones higher?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yes, that's the cross-bus, the configuration issues we have pointed out, that span both the main north and south bus at Third Line TS.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the upper stuff is strain bus; what about this lower stuff that I can see, starting at the right-hand side of the structure and heading towards the left-hand side?  What is that stuff?

MR. GAZANKAS:  It is strain bus, as well, but it's accessible.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then the insulators that need replacing are these upper ones, and the reason you can't just go in and replace them is because you have to take a station outage to do it.  Could you just elaborate on why you would need to take a station outage?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Again, as I have just stated, these strain bus insulators support conductor that spans both, across both the north and south bus.  So basically we would be working atop live 115-kV bus.

MR. FAYE:  So is it an issue of losing control of one of these strain bus conductors, to have it drop into this live stuff and take your station out?  Is that the issue?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yes, that's one issue.

MR. FAYE:  What are the other issues?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Well, obviously, you know, it's not just taking the station out.  If something like were to happen with individuals on site, the probability of injury would be severe.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So is there any way of putting something between those two sets of strain bus that would catch a falling conductor?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Again, not without taking the total station out, because the distance between the main -- if you look at the two bus running parallel with the page, the space between those two doesn't warrant any type of structure or material to be installed there, because of limits of approach, violations.

MR. FAYE:  So this is, then, a question of you need room to go in there and do anything to provide protection, but if you could do something under an outage, could you then liven that lower bus back up?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Sorry, I don't understand your question.

MR. FAYE:  Well, give me an example of what you could do, if you could get an appropriate outage.  What could you put in there that would catch conductors that might fall?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I don't think we could put anything in there because, again, if I put a steel structure in there, there are certain distances that need to be kept.  And the existing configuration doesn't allow for any material to be installed up in between through those main north and south bus.

MR. FAYE:  So it's not just a working access problem, it's a problem there is no room to put anything in there even if you could get access to it easily?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Is there any cover that can be put on those lower conductors that would insulate them from something falling down and short-circuiting them?

MR. GAZANKAS:  To my understanding, there would be no -- nothing we could apply, no cover-ups, to that 115-kV bus.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Moving on, then, to the actual process of replacing the strain bus insulators, I think I noted in there that per 3-phase circuit, you think it takes 12 hours to replace the insulators in question.  Do I have that right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  I am looking at this from an uninformed person’s point of view.

MR. GAZANKAS:  Right.

 MR. FAYE:  It looks to me like those insulators come on a string like the ones on transmission towers.  Is that right?  They sort of go to together in some way?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Similar, yes.

MR. FAYE:  And then they hook on to the steel structure?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And then at the other end, the conductor is fastened to them in some form, right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct

MR. FAYE:  So it occurs to me that you could pre-assemble an insulator string on the ground.  And I just don't see where 12 hours could be consumed, going up, unhooking a string of insulators, putting another one up, feeding the conductors through some eye and pressing it back on itself.  How would you spend 12 hours doing that?

MR. GAZANKAS:  First of all, I will step you through process.  As being a safety-conscious utility, we abide by the use of rules and work protection code, and work protection code is basically a process and a defined set of procedures that are developed when taking and de-energizing equipment to working on it safely in a station of this size.  If we could even coordinate a full wide-city station outage, the switching alone in and out would approximately be five hours, just the switching alone.

 So then after that, to pre-assemble something and then to get up there and hang it, and it not fit, then that also extends into the -- it would extend the outage.  So there is that aspect where we would string it individually as we went along.

There is also the connections down from the overhead cross-bus down to the main bus, as well, that would have to be likely replaced, because they are compression-fitting.

 So it's not trivial, by any stretch.

MR. FAYE:  No, I didn't mean to suggest it was trivial.  And, you know, I’ll accept your word for it that there is five hours of switching involved to try and take the station out of service.  That sounds like a lot to someone like me, but I’ll take your word for it.  So it's seven hours left, but it seems to me you could put a whole lot of crews in there.  You know, two men to each insulator string, and you could get them all done at the same time.

 After all, the station would be out of service.  You can just cut the conductor and let her fall, if what you are talking about is putting up a new strain bus.  You could have multiple bucket trucks in there.

 So you still think seven hours is a reasonable working time?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I think you’ve oversimplified.  I think we have been conservative in our estimating.  We believe that it would take 12 hours to replace that set of insulators.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think there was another category of work that were connections.  It sounded like it wasn't strain bus connections; it was rigid bus connections.  Do I have that right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Basically the connectors, the connectors that tap from the overhead cross-bus down to the main north and south bus.  Infrared scan showed heating of those connections, and we continue to monitor those at this point in time.  Not to the extent that we need to take the station out, but we do monitor them closely.

MR. FAYE:  Are those connections visible in this aerial photograph?

MR. GAZANKAS:  No, they are not.

MR. FAYE:  Where approximately would I look for them?  Between those two circuit breakers?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yeah.  Basically there would be a number of them between the two sets of circuit breakers.  It's hard to explain.

MR. FAYE:  So if I understand you right, though, the upper strain bus spans between the near structure and the far structure, and coming down from it is a piece of conductor that attaches to one of those lower strain buses that go in the opposite direction; is that right?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And it’s the clamp that's joining those two pieces of conductor that's causing you some heating problems?

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's correct.  We did replace the ones that were acceptable on the main north and south bus when we found that they were heated to an unacceptable limit.  At this point in time, we monitor the overhead and something seems to be giving us too much concern.  At this point in time.

MR. FAYE:  And remind, if you would kindly, how much time is involved in changing those connectors?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I would have to pull that up.  I can't recall from memory.

 Again, it's similar to the strain bus, just not as many of them.  We would require an outage of between 10 and 12 hours.

MR. FAYE:  And that's per set of -- what do you call those things where --

MR. GAZANKAS:  That's per connector.

MR. FAYE:  Per connector?


MR. GAZANKAS:  Per connector.  The biggest concern we have the connector is we have an infrared scan that just shows the heating; it doesn't show whether that heating is internal or actually on the bolted pad of that connector.

If it was the bolted pad, it's easy enough for us to go up there and potentially tighten it under a station outage.  But without visible inspection, we can't determine if it's actually internal heating of that connector.

If the heating internal, then potentially we have to replace that overhead cross bus and the underneath bus, as well, because we would have to cut the conductor, and we wouldn't want to splice a bus conductor.

So this is a worst-case scenario, because we just don't know.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if I got that right, the way these things are connected is there is a square thing with bolts on it that sticks up from one conductor, and it marries to a squire thing with bolts on the thing that comes down, the conductor that comes down, and you turn bolts into that, tighten the whole works up?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  And the issue is you don't know whether it's the surface between those two metal plates that is heating or whether it is where the conductor fits into the socket of that metal plate and is crimped in?

MR. GAZANKAS:  The socket and where that -- the top -- the top connector is crimped onto that overhead cross bus, because there is two parts that bolt together.  It's a "T".

MR. FAYE:  So what you are saying is if you could assume that it's just that pad thing and prepare a work plan to replace it, and that doesn't sound like a whole big deal to do, but if you were to take that off and find out, no, it's not that at all, it's the actual conductor that's somehow damaged -- is that what would cause the heating?

MR. GAZANKAS:  Yes.  It could be corrosion inside the conductor, a number of different things.

MR. FAYE:  But you don't know the answer?  Are you uncomfortable with that?

MR. GAZANKAS:  I don't know the answer, because I cannot get up -- again, I can't get up to inspect it visually, because of the requirement of a full station outage.  But at this time, as mentioned before the heating isn't that great that we have a large concern over that.

If the heating gets to the extent where we have concern, then we will have no choice but to move forward with a plan to replace those connections.

MR. FAYE:  One final couple of questions.  It sounds to me like you're banking on getting this new TS built so you can get rid of these problems all by themselves.  You are just going to dismantle that stuff, is that right, before they become a problem to you?

MR. GAZANKAS:  We are trying to manage that in a proactive manner.  There are a number of other items that justify the need for this project.  It's not just that.

MR. FAYE:  And the last question:  Do your linemen do live line work?

MR. GAZANKAS:  No, they do not.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DJURDIEVIC:  I take it everybody's had their chance to ask their questions and nothing else follows?

Well, that would then conclude the technical conference, and I thank everybody for their participation.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:05 p.m.
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